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Focused exploration and development 
programs

• Targeting sediment-hosted finely disseminated gold 

deposits in Victoria.

• The immediate priority is a drilling program at the 

Nagambie gold mine, which includes RC drilling and a 

minimum of 3,000 metres of diamond drilling.

• Targets also identified for immediate drilling at our 

Redcastle, Taradale and Wedderburn properties.

• Further work being undertaken to examine significant 

geochemical gold anomalies identified in areas untested 

by previous modern exploration efforts.  

Quality properties in a world class gold 
mining province

• All tenements held have previous gold production. 

• Historically Victoria has produced some 80 million 

ounces, which is approximately 2% of total recorded 

global gold output.

• Tenements contain indications of sediment-hosted finely 

disseminated gold, apart from Howqua, Wedderburn 

(Part) and Piggoreet (Application) with volcanics-hosted 

finely disseminated gold mineralisation.

Applying modern exploration techniques

• Panaegis has targeted mineralisation which is similar to 

the Carlin-type gold occurrence in Nevada, USA. 

• Carlin-type deposits typically are large-tonnage and 

exhibit shallow lower grades of oxide gold, transitioning 

with depth to higher gold grades in sulphides.

• Panaegis has developed and is applying an exploration 

process that has been a reliable indicator in identifying 

gold mineralisation of this Carlin-type.

Bulk mining and bio-leaching production 
methods  :

• The finely disseminated and more uniformly distributed 

nature of sediment-hosted gold deposits makes them 

more readily amenable to resource quantification.

• Modern bulk mining techniques and bio-leaching 

technologies have dramatically improved gold extraction 

rates, and reduced operating costs so that extraction of 

previously uneconomic gold-in-sulphides mineralisation 

may now be commercially viable.

• Bio-leach technology has been operating for over a 

decade and is successfully producing in Victoria at 

Perseverance Corporation Limited’s Fosterville gold 

mine.

• Panaegis is, in joint venture with Perseverance 

Corporation Limited, to develop finely disseminated 

gold-in-sulphides and oxide orebodies at the old 

Nagambie Gold Mine.  

• Toll treatment of reserves established at the Nagambie 

Gold Mine may be carried out by Perseverance 

Corporation Limited through their Fosterville bio-

leaching facilities.

Experienced people who know the 
resources industry

• Directors and senior management are well known, 

respected and experienced resources industry 

professionals who bring sound exploration, mining, 

financial, management and analytical skills to the 

Company.
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24 October 2006

Dear Shareholder

We are pleased that we were able, despite a substantial gold price drop and market pull back at the time, to launch the 

Company with strong investor support and financial backing to the extent of an underwritten $6.0 million issue. We are, 

nevertheless, disappointed that our ASX listing failed to hold our IPO price.

I want to thank sincerely all seed investors who have had the courage and conviction to stick with their investment. The 

role that you play is an integral, indeed critical part of, not only our funding, but resource financing in Australia. It should be 

recognised by Governments as the backbone of the industry and appropriate rewards extended.

Our Prospectus set out an aggressive programme of exploration activity which we are pursing. This report outlines the drilling 

at Nagambie and Taradale and, more recently, at Redcastle. Extensive geochemical sampling programmes have been or are 

underway in most of our exploration project areas. 

Early spectacular results at Nagambie need to be further understood and extended. At this early stage they do, however, bode 

well for, and substantiate, the Company’s exploration philosophy of pursuing finely disseminated Carlin-style gold model.

As part of the portfolio approach, we have also identified an undrilled but exciting tenement at Piggoreet, South West of 

Ballarat, that is in a volcanic greenstone setting. To ensure our properties are evaluated in the post possible manner, we have 

also been successful in attracting several senior tenement geologists to bolster our technical capabilities.

As we move forward, I do wish to thank all of those involved with the Company pre IPO and IPO stage. To our Underwriter/

Manager - Tolhurst Noall,  Lawyers – TressCox,  our Auditors – BDO .... thank you. For the tremendous leadership and 

perseverance of our Managing Director – Ian Buckingham and Exploration Manager – Rex Motton and all members of the 

Board .... your contributions have been exceptional. Thank you. And, a special word of gratitude and thanks to you, our 

shareholders.

The year ahead promises to be one of high level of activity over multiple existing projects. We have much to look forward to.

JOHN W CORNELIUS

Chairman
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A Busy Period

Although listing only a week before the end of the 2005 

financial year, we were very active throughout the year 

preparing Panaegis for quotation on the ASX. In addition, 

we were ensuring that the exploration licences remained 

in good standing; both in terms of the quality of the 

exploration undertaken and also that requisite expenditures 

were met. We did this so that the Company’s shareholders 

should be provided with the earliest possible opportunities 

to improve their net value through a detailed program of 

prospect and regional drilling.

In the period between the Company’s quotation on ASX 

and 30 June 2006, the Company used its cash at the 

time of admission in a way consistent with its business 

objectives.

Looking for New Targets

As shareholders, you are aware that Panaegis was 

established to explore for, and to develop, large, fine-

grained, disseminated gold deposits similar to the giant 

ones found at Carlin, Nevada, USA. Local examples of this 

style of mineralisation include Perseverance’s Fosterville 

Mine and Gold Fields’ Lockington project, 40kms north of 

Fosterville.

While we had previously identified the potential for this 

style of mineralisation in Victoria, our time over the past 

twelve months has been spent systematically evaluating 

each of our tenements to identify the characteristics 

common with the Carlin model. Where we established that 

this style of mineralisation was present we implemented 

more detailed sampling procedures and employed other 

advanced evaluation techniques. Where this style was 

not present, we either changed our evaluation process(es) 

or marked the area for eventual surrender in line with the 
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State Government’s relinquishment requirements. Such an 

approach is consistent with our desire to rapidly evaluate 

areas to optimise returns to shareholders.

And Traditional Ones

We have also acquired properties with several other 

gold mineralisation styles, including traditional, high-grade 

“nuggetty” fault/reef deposits of the Bendigo Zone, which 

historically has been the source of most of Victoria’s gold 

production, and also other volcanic mineralisation styles 

associated with the Stawell and Tabberabbera Zones.

Included in our Prospectus, was an application for an area 

near the central Victorian township of Heathcote. This was 

done to protect the north and west sides of our Redcastle 

tenements, where exploration is showing some good 

indications of Carlin-style gold mineralisation. We were 

successful in our application and, as a result, the permit 

was awarded to Panaegis on 4 October 2006. 

We also made application on 22 August 2006 for an 

area near Piggoreet, 20km southwest of Ballarat, with 

potential for greenstone hosted disseminated sulphides 

gold associated with the Avoca Fault zone. We expect to 

be offered this tenement in the near future.

NAGAMBIE MINE  
(Panaegis 51%)

The Nagambie mine and regional projects encompass 

Mining Lease 5412, that is currently owned 100% by 

Perseverance Mining Pty Ltd (PSV) and the Exploration 

Licences 4718 and 4887 owned 100% by Panaegis. 

Under a joint venture agreement, Panaegis will earn a 51% 

interest (PSV 49%) in MIN 5412 by the expenditure of $0.9 

million in exploration by 30 June 2007. PSV will earn a 

49% interest in ELs 4718 and 4887 (Panaegis reducing to 

51%) and has allowed up to a total of 30% of Panaegis’ 

expenditure to be allocated to exploration activities within 

those exploration licences.

During July 2005, we commissioned an external and 

independent update of the resources at Nagambie below 

the current open pit/surface topography. This yielded 

an inferred resources estimate, classified in accordance 

with the 2004 JORC guidelines, of 2.3 Mt at a grade of 

approximately 1.0 g/t gold for some 75,000 ounces of 

contained gold.

In conjunction with favourable geologic conditions for the 

development of a Carlin-style orebody, Panaegis moved 

quickly to establish the potential for contiguous mineralised 

bodies at Nagambie. These bodies would be predominantly 

sulphide mineralisation extensions, and repetitions of, the 

already mined sediment hosted, structurally controlled, 

oxide mineralisation not targeted by PSV because of the 

lack of an effective economical extraction process at the 

time. However, advances in metallurgy have occurred since 

then and PSV has shown at Fosterville that an effective 

gold-in-sulphide extraction methodology can render such 

deposits viable propositions.

On 11 July 2006, Panaegis commenced drilling at 

Nagambie. The program involved drilling twelve holes 

featuring reverse circulation (RC) pre-collars with diamond 

cored tails. Although this program was completed on 7 

October 2006, a decision was made to continue drilling 

because o the excellent results obtained to date. Hole NRP 

13 was drilled between drill holes NRP 02 and NRP 03, to 

provide more data on the prominent gold and antimony 

mineralisation encountered in Hole NRP 02. Hole NRP 14 

has now been drilled 3 metres north (collar) and on the 

same azimuth as Hole NRP 02 but inclined at -65 degrees. 

Visual pyrite, arsenopyrite and stibnite mineralisation has 

been observed in both of these holes.

Visual logging of the cores from all holes and cuttings 

of sections of these cores are being prepared and sent 

for assay. Various zones of pyrite and arsenopyrite 

mineralisation along with minor quartz stock-workings have 

been encountered in most holes. Due to laboratory delays 

we have only received detailed results for Hole NRP 02.

The location of the holes are marked on Figure 2, while 

Figure 3 details the results from NRP 02 in cross section 

along with holes previously drilled by PSV on this section.
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Table 1 Assay Results for Hole NRP 02.

Hole From To Width  Gold g/t  Stibnite % Gold Equiv Core Loss 

 (m) (m) (m)   (ppm) (m)

NRP02 98.0 104.0 6.0 1.2 0.2 1.9 0.0 

NRP02 110.0 136.7 26.7 5.0 8.8 30.4 2.1 

including 

NRP02 110.0 117.0 7.0 7.7 13.8 47.4 0.0 

NRP02 122.1 132.8 10.7 6.1 10.6 36.7 0.0 

NRP02 134.0 136.7 2.7 0.7 2.5 7.8 0.0 

Note:  (i) The interval shown represents the lower section of RC drilling and top section of the core.  Gold and stibnite mineralisation has 

been identified from 98 metres to 137 metres. This appears to correspond to a zone of mineralisation in Hole NRP 01 between 108 

metres and 120 metres.

 (ii) A significant set of stibnite veins was intersected between 110 metres and 134 metres that are generally 0.5-1 metre wide. No 

quartz is associated with the stibnite.  A visual inspection of the remaining core indicates no obvious stibnite veining.
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Figure 2:  Drill Hole Plan – Nagambie Gold Mine
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The excellent results from the combined reverse circulation (RC) and diamond core program have confirmed the presence 

of gold-in-sulphides mineralisation below the existing pits. The information obtained from this work will enable Panaegis to 

improve its understanding of the structural geology, which, in turn, will aid in the interpretation of the shape and form of 

sulphide mineralisation identified below the existing pits. Further drilling along strike will be undertaken beyond the pits which 

have an overall length of 1700 metres.

NAGAMBIE AND AVENEL PROJECTS 
(Panaegis 51%)

Historical regional exploration of the area covered by EL4718 and EL4887 licences has been minimal due to the predominance 

of alluvial cover. However, previous work by Southern Ventures NL comprising soil sampling traverses within the overlying 

sediments showed elevated local arsenic and gold values. These anomalies are to be examined more closely and refined by 

detailed grid based geochemical surveys. 

Recent sampling by Gold Fields Australasia Pty Ltd at its Lockington property 35 km north west of Nagambie has shown 

that a combination of airborne geophysics and surface geochemistry is successful in finding carlin-style mineralisation under 

100m of cover. This bodes well for the regional exploration potential of EL 4718 and EL 4887. 
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Figure 3:  Schematic cross-section Nagambie Gold Mine

The following cross section shows Hole NRP 02 and the new mineralised intersections in relation to the existing open cut 

and the historic drill results from PSV. No antimony (stibnite) assays are available for the historic drilling data.



The Golden Mountain deposit, which is located outside the southern boundary of EL 4887 on the southern side of the 

Strathbogie Granite (1.3 Mt at 1.5g/t gold), occurs in a similar geological setting to our Mangalore prospect which is located 

on the northern side of the Strathbogie Granite and inside our licence boundary.

Objectives

The prime focus of the exploration program in the licence areas involved the investigation, development, and confirmation 

of both geochemical and geophysical signatures specific to the carlin-style of mineralisation.

Geochemical signatures, possibly within both the cover and underlying Silurian-Devonian rocks, are expected to include at 

least anomalous gold, and arsenic and antimony as pathfinder elements. The initial sampling will involve soils geochemistry 

with follow up sampling of the sub-surface rocks in areas of identified anomalism using either rotary air blast (RAB) or air 

core drilling.

BAILIESTON PROJECT 
(Panaegis 100%)

The Bailieston Project was acquired in order to pursue opportunities for the discovery of low-grade bulk tonnage 

mineralisation similar in style to that identified at Nagambie. Previous exploration by other companies in the area did not 

target this style of mineralisation although a minor gold deposit was discovered and put into production by PSV during the 

mid-1990’s.

Panaegis has completed a regional magnetic interpretation and reviewed all available geological data. A considerable volume 

of PSV drilling data has now been copied into the Panaegis data base and thus used as part of our exploration program. A 

rock chip geochemical program was also completed and highlighted several areas requiring follow up evaluation. The focus 

is on completing a targeted soils and rock chip program.

Objectives

The objective of work on the Bailieston EL 4719 licence is to define contiguous, large sulphide mineralisation extensions 

as well as repetitions of the oxide ore previously extracted from the open pit mine. Panaegis is working to quickly identify 

zones of mineralisation of the disseminated style beneath shallow cover, or in concealed positions within the hinge zone of 

the Bailieston Anticline.  
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NRP02 sulphides. Bright gold coloured speckles are pyrite. Grey metallic is the massive stibnite. Note also qtz veinlets and brecciation.
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During the last twelve months, Panaegis has conducted a combination of soils, trenching and rock chip sampling geochemistry 

and geological mapping to confirm the presence of gold mineralisation and to establish possible lengths and widths. To date, 

1,483 soil, rock chip and trenching samples have been collected which have enabled Panaegis to identify nine separate shear 

zone structures, all of which are consistently auriferous and have a combined strike length of 4,000 metres. Of the 470 rock 

chip samples, assay results range up to 63.2g/t gold and 20% of these samples are >0.3g/t gold. The vast majority of these 

mineralised rock chips are located along these shear zones, many of which have been mapped as striking into the surrounding 

ground to the North West that was recently granted to Panaegis – the Heathcote EL4941 tenement. 

The results of this program confirm the type of mineralisation as fitting our Carlin-style disseminated gold model. In addition we 

have extended the known areas of mineralisation and discovered new zones of disseminated mineralisation. The consistency 

of the assay results within these zones is significant and we look forward to the results of the forthcoming scout drilling.
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REDCASTLE PROJECT 
(Panaegis 100%)

The project encompasses EL 3316 and EL 4594 that comprise an area of 9.5 km2 and have potential for Carlin-style gold 

mineralisation.



RUSHWORTH PROJECT 
(Panaegis 100%)

The Rushworth EL 4723 covers an area of approximately 111 km2 and encompasses the three main historic goldfields in 

the region of Rushworth, Whroo, and White Hills.  Panaegis acquired this property in the belief that it had potential primarily 

for the discovery of Carlin-style disseminated gold mineralisation but also for associated high grade gold quartz reefs. 

The work completed to date shows strong potential for these styles of mineralisation in the southern section of the 

exploration licence along an east west corridor of mineralisation, beginning at Buffalo Diggings through Whroo to White 

Hills. Mapping by Panaegis indicates several areas of disseminated gold. A stream sediment sampling program covering the 

entire tenement has successfully identified areas of previously unknown fine grained disseminated gold mineralisation.

Drilling will be undertaken as appropriate from follow-up geochemical, geophysical, geological mapping and interpretation 

work.

HOWQUA PROJECT 
(Panaegis 100%)

The Howqua Project comprises EL 3424 (497.2 ha) and MIN 5420 application (5.0 ha located within EL 3424).

The Howqua Project’s location in high country means access for exploration is generally restricted to the summer season. 

All requirements relating to the granting of the Mining Lease were completed and the lease granted in October 2005. Soil 

sampling at Horse Creek over an area of 250m on strike by 160m wide has established a polymetallic zone of anomalism on 

strike to a geophysical electro-magnetic anomaly that appears to be associated with a zone of silicified dolerite and chert. 

The soil survey is incomplete and further sampling is required. 

Objectives

Previous exploration activities have broadly defined a zone of gold mineralisation extending south-easterly from the old 

Howqua United mine through and beyond the Great Rand mine. This so-called Great Rand Corridor, contains the Grant-

Brazier Lode mineralisation which Panaegis considers to be a core resource asset that requires additional drilling. A number 

of other anomalous areas remain untested for primary mineralisation but require additional sampling to refine drill targets.

The Great Rand Corridor remains untested to the far north-west and south-east and requires extension soil sampling 

programs to establish the extent of the mineralisation.
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TARADALE PROJECT 
(Panaegis 100%)

Exploration Licences (ELs 4527, 4890, 4894 and 4895) 

total 15 km2 in area and are located within the historic 

Taradale Goldfield alongside the Calder Highway between 

Woodend and Bendigo.

Panaegis acquired the properties in order to drill test the 

United Kingdom Anticline corridor for quartz saddle reef 

repetitions underneath previous production sites, within 

and also beyond the known 1,100 m strike. In addition, 

the objective was to review the potential of the area to 

host antimony-gold-style mineralisation similar to that 

associated with Carlin-style mineralisation.

During 2005, soil geochemical sampling across the 

United Kingdom Extended Mine demonstrated a marked 

anomalism immediate to the United Kingdom Anticline 

that was interpreted to indicate a clear expression of gold 

mineralisation associated with the neighbouring saddle 

reefs. Two diamond drill holes drilled in August 2006 to test 

the United Kingdom line in the vicinity of this anomalism. 

Geological interpretation of the drill core demonstrates that 

the western limbs of gold bearing quartz reefs, a saddle 

reef and a deep lead were intersected and the position of 

the anticlinal axis determined.

Objectives

Panaegis is reviewing the results of this drilling and is also 

exploring the neighbouring fold and fault structures for gold 

mineralisation within quartz reef and possibly disseminated sulphides. 

Stream sediment sampling has been completed over the entire project area drainage system. Areas of anomalous 

geochemistry will be followed up by soil geochemistry and selected traverses of appropriate electrical geophysics.

CASTLEMAINE PROJECT 
(Panaegis 100%)

Exploration Licence 4722 covers an area of 216 km2 and comprises three areas that Panaegis has named: (i) the Guildford 

Plateau, (ii) Dry Diggings and (iii) Haphazard.

While the areas have been subjected to concerted prospecting for auriferous quartz reef and alluvial gold deposits since 

the discovery of the first gold in 1852, the fine-grained mineralisation that Panaegis is seeking has received little exploration 

attention. By applying modern geochemical sampling and geophysical surveys, we hope to define similar mineralisation to 

that at Nagambie and Fosterville.

Guildford Plateau Block:

In the Maldon area, geochemical stream sediment sampling, and initial reconnaissance rock chip sampling has been 

completed. Several anomalous results have been obtained from the stream sediment samples in two distinct areas at Green 
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Gully and near Maldon. A second round of stream sediments was completed in this area and a program of grid based soil 

sampling has been completed to move closely the Au/As/Sb anomalism observed in the area. Some duplication of previous 

stream sediment sampling was also done to confirm results. A rock sample from the area assayed 0.9% Sb and 0.25 g/t 

Au. We are awaiting for assay results of the soil sampling at the Maldon Antimony prospect.

In the Yandoit area in the south of the Block an extensive stream sediment sampling program was carried out with 71 

samples taken covering 84km2. The results clearly showed the extent of the historic Yandoit goldfield, particularly in the 

vicinity of old hard rock workings. The largest and most significant contiguous gold anomaly is 6.9km2. Whilst this is to be 

expected, some more detailed work is required to fully account for all anomaly sources and to gain a better understanding 

of the controlling features of the goldfield. A rock chip database of previous work has also been completed and the results 

added to the area’s data base. A rock-chip sampling program has been completed with 91 samples taken within the areas 

of stream sediment anomalism; the assay results have not yet been received.

At Maldon and Green Gully, a further detailed rock chip and soil sampling program will be undertaken to establish drill targets. 

 

Dry Diggings Block:

The presence of antimony associated with stock work gold mineralisation in the vicinity of Dry Diggings was noted sixty 

years ago. Panaegis’ first pass stream sediment sampling program identified and confirmed these observations, with a zone 

of anomalous gold stream sediment geochemistry interpreted as striking north south through the centre of the tenement, 

including the Kirkham’s Reef zone. More detailed work is required to establish whether this type of mineralisation is likely to 

yield a disseminated type gold deposit. A more detailed stream sediment sampling program has been compiled as a follow-

up to the anomalous areas, in order to prioritise areas. A detailed rock chip sampling program has been completed which 

has highlighted areas of gold mineralisation and indicated probable gold grades. 

Haphazard Block:

A total of 22 stream sediment samples have been collected from the Haphazard Block. Four of these anomalous samples 

occur along a NW trending magnetic structure, whilst a fifth sample was collected from a stream that drains the Lady 

Staughton Reef. Further sampling along the magnetic trend is warranted along with a detailed soil-sampling program in 

anomalous catchments in the region.

WEDDERBURN PROJECT
(Panaegis 100%)

This Project comprises three separate blocks totalling an area of 261km2. Panaegis has focused on locating and evaluating 

gold mineralisation with particular emphasis on economic disseminated gold-sulphide deposits not targeted by previous 

explorers.

Nine Mile Block:

During the past twelve months, Panaegis completed a reconnaissance soil sampling program at the Leggett’s Reef workings 

located in the south of the block. Soil sampling assays returned minor gold anomalism which warrants selective, closer 

spaced sampling traverses to delineate drill targets.

A regional stream sediment program has been completed covering the entire tenement, including the Avoca and the Golden 

Jacket Faults. Initial analysis indicates two significant areas of broad base metal and gold anomalism occur. One area 

surrounds the Nine Mile mine workings and includes an area further to the east. The other area occurs on the NW striking 

contact metamorphic ridge in the western part of the tenement, south west of Nine Mile. 

Other sporadic isolated stream sediment sample anomalies occur which appear to have an inconsistent (nuggetty) response, 

and are not altogether supported by base metals.
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Stuart Mill Block:

Numerous primary gold mineralised structures are recorded associated with the hanging wall of the Percydale Fault with 

gold occurring along the entire 14km strike extension. Only 25% of the fault development has been investigated by modern 

exploration applications.

A stream sediment program completed over the northern half of this block downgraded much of the area, apart from 

areas draining known auriferous terrace gravels, and an area of contiguous anomalies at the northern end of the Percydale 

Fault. 

Emu Block:

The Emu Block contains northwest trending shear deformations that host auriferous quartz reef developments as exemplified 

by the Royal George group of mines. Previous tenement holder, Golden Triangle Resources N.L., conducted limited soil 

sampling surrounding the mine site and revealed elevated gold values. A rock chip sample of quartz taken by Panaegis from 

the Royal George mine assayed 18.6 g/t Au.

A contiguous gold anomalous area of approximately 1km2 surrounds the Royal George mine site, whilst to the north-west 

there is another contiguous gold anomalous area of 11 km2. An infill stream sediment program is required as follow up to 

the 11 km2 anomalous area of broad acre farming where private property access has being established.

HEATHCOTE PROJECT 
(Panaegis 100%)

Application was made for the 316km2 EL 4941 permit and this was approved and registered on 4 October 2006. The 

tenement was acquired as it was seen to provide protection to the Carlin-style gold mineralisation that we have observed 

and are currently examining in the adjoining Redcastle leases. The lease also gives access to the historic Heathcote goldfield 

and the Mt William greenstone belt.

PIGGOREET 
(Panaegis 100%)

On 22 August 2006, Panaegis made application for a 2km2 tenement (EL4994) at Piggoreet, 20 km south west of Ballarat. 

Panaegis is the priority applicant.

The tenement straddles the Avoca Fault and represents one of the few areas along the fault where Cambrian greenstones 

are exposed at surface. Geology is similar to that observed at the Stawell gold mine. The area was worked until about 1910 

when it was abandoned due to metallurgical problems associated with the sulphide mineralisation. Production during the 

life of the Port Arthur Mine at Piggoreet amounted to 9,094 tonnes at 21.2g/t gold for a total recovery of 6,297 ounces of 

gold. Sampling from the main dump shows that both the wall rocks and the reef are mineralised. The mined grade compares 

favourably with Stawell.

Ian D Buckingham

Managing Director/CEO

Within this report references to Resources and exploration results have been approved for release by Mr N Motton BSc(Hons), MAIG, who is a Competent 

Person as defined by the JORC Code (2004). He has consented to the inclusion of the material in the form and context in which it appears.

13



14

D I R E C T O R S ’  R E P O R T

JOHN W CORNELIUS

Non-Executive Chairman

Appointed 29 October 2004

IAN D BUCKINGHAM

Managing Director / CEO

Appointed 29 October 2004

MICHAEL W TRUMBULL

Director Mining

Appointed 28 July 2005

John Cornelius has been involved in the natural resources, enterprise development and 

mining industries in various accounting, corporate secretarial, management and director 

roles for public companies for almost 40 years. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 

Secretaries, Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, Senior Associate of the 

Financial Services Institute of Australia and Member of the Petroleum Exploration Society 

of Australia (PESA).

Member of Audit and Compliance Committee.

Other current Directorships of Listed Companies

Essential Petroleum Resource Limited – appointed 13 November 1999

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years

None

 

Ian Buckingham has over 34 years experience in all aspects of exploration and development 
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resource exploration and consulting. Ian holds a Fellowship Diploma in Geology (RMIT), a 

Bachelor of Applied Science (Applied Geology) and an MBA. He is a member the Petroleum 

Exploration Society of Australia and The American Society of Petroleum Geologists.

Ian is a member of the Valmin Committee that recently rewrote the Valmin Code for the 

technical assessment and valuation of minerals and petroleum assets and a Director of the 

Victorian Confederation of Sports (VicSport).

Other current Directorships of Listed Companies

None

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years

None

Michael Trumbull has a degree in mining engineering (first class honours) from the University 

of Queensland and an MBA from Macquarie University. A Fellow of the Australian Institute 

of Mining and Metallurgy, he has over 30 years of broad mining industry engineering and 

management experience with companies including: MIM, Renison, WMC, CRA, AMAX, 

ACM, ACM Gold and Beaconsfield Gold NL.

Other current Directorships of Listed Companies

Beaconsfield Gold NL – appointed 16 March 1993

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years

None

Your Directors submit their report for the 12 months ended 30 June 2006. 

 
DIRECTORS

The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial period and until the date of this report are as 

follows. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities:



PETER I RUDD

Non Executive Director

Appointed 29 October 2006

ANDREW R RISTROM

Non Executive Director

Appointed 15 March 2006

PETER J CAMERON

Non Executive Director

Appointed 17 June 2005

Resigned 13 March 2006 

Peter Rudd has been involved in the Australian resources sector for more than 35 years. He 

has a degree in geology from Melbourne University and spent five years in the field on mineral 

exploration in a number of different geographical localities and geological terrains in Australia 

before moving to stock broking as a gold and resources analyst.

He completed an MBA at Melbourne University and is a senior lecturer in the Advanced Mining 

Analysis course and a Senior Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australia, Member of the 

Securities and Derivatives Industry Association and a founding committee member of the highly 

successful Melbourne Mining Club of which he is now Chairman.

Peter is Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee.

Other Current Directorships of Listed Companies

None.

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years

None.

Andrew Ristrom has more than 30 years experience in the stockbroking industry with a particular 

focus on the resources sector. Andrew has extensive experience in capital markets. 

He was admitted to membership of the Melbourne Stock exchange in 1981. Andrew is a 

founding shareholder and director of Domain Capital Pty Ltd, a Melbourne based corporate 

advisory and equity capital markets firm.

Member of Audit and Compliance Committee.

Other Current Directorships of Listed Companies

None.

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years 

None. 

Other Current Directorships of Listed Companies

None.

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years 

None.

 

Alfonso Grillo is a Partner at TressCox Lawyers. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree and LLB. 

Alfonso has expertise in various aspects of commercial law, including company meeting practice 

and corporate governance procedures, fundraising and fundraising documentation, ASX Listing 

Rules and mergers and acquisitions. 

Alfonso advises resource industry companies in relation to mining and exploration projects, 

acquisition and divestment of assets, joint ventures, due diligence assessments and native title 

issues.

 

Cherie Harrison holds a Bachelor of Business degree (Business law and Economics) and is a 

Senior Associate of the Financial Services Institute of Australia.

Cherie has worked for more than 10 years in financial and secretarial roles with public and private 

companies in the resources, management consulting, medical and marketing industries.

ALFONSO M G GRILLO 

BA LLB 

CHERIE L HARRISON

COMPANY SECRETARIES
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Interests in the shares and options of the company and related bodies corporate:

At the date of this report, the interest of the directors in the shares and options in Panaegis Gold Mines Limited were:

Director Ordinary Shares Options over Ordinary Shares

John W Cornelius 1,800,000 -

Ian D Buckingham 2,800,000 2,500,000

Michael J Trumbull 625,000 -

Peter I Rudd 1,050,000 -

Andrew R Ristrom 200,000  (*) 500,000

(*) granted as a result of a contract entered into prior to the becoming a Director of the Company relating to capital raising activities.

CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Corporate Structure 

Panaegis Gold Mines Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Panaegis Gold 

Mines Limited has prepared a consolidated financial report incorporating the entities that it controlled during the financial 

period and which are outlined in note 1(a) of the financial statements.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the economic entity during the financial period was exploration for gold and minerals in Victoria.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Group Overview

Panaegis Gold Mines Limited was established on 29 October 2004 for the purpose of exploring for and developing gold and 

associated minerals and metals properties in Victoria.

Exploration Overview

The Company holds Exploration and Mining Licences in Victoria and is actively exploring these tenements for gold and 

associated minerals and metals. Panaegis has since balance date completed two diamond core holes on the United Kingdom 

reef at its Taradale property and commenced drilling activity at the Nagambie Gold Mines where 9 reverse circulation (RC) 

holes with diamond tails have been completed. Initial Nagambie RC assay results are very encouraging while results of the 

diamond drilling at both Nagambie and Taradale have not as yet been received from the assay laboratory.

In its Prospectus dated 3 May 2006, Panaegis advised that it had made application for EL4941 at Heathcote. The application 

was made under the Right to Negotiate process under the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) and has now been finalised. Panaegis 

expects to be awarded the licence within the next few weeks. In addition, the Company has applied for, and is the preferred 

applicant for EL4994, an area of two square kilometres at Piggoreet, Victoria.
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Financial Overview

The net assets of the Group increased by $7,709,011 to $8,640,691 at 30 June 2006 from $931,680 at 30 June 2005. The 

Company raised $6,000,000 through an initial public offer in May 2006.

Operating Result:

The loss for the Consolidated Entity after income tax was $578,712 (2005 $180,017). This result was in line with 

expectations.

Cash Flows:

The cash flows of the Company consist of payments to contractors and suppliers for exploration activities on tenements 

held and the maintenance of the corporate head office which manages existing projects, as well as costs involved in 

investigating new exploration opportunities.

Dividends

No dividends in respect of the current financial period have been paid, declared or recommended for payment.

CAPITAL RAISINGS/CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the period under review, the Company undertook the following capital raisings.

Date Share Issue Price Per Share 

22 July 2005 1,700,000 $0.04 

12 August 2005 7,925,000 $0.04 

26 August 2005 1,750,000 $0.04 

8 September 2005 1,500,000 $0.04 

16 June 2006 30,000,000 $0.20 

Note: On 8 March 2006 shareholders approved a share consolidation on the basis of converting every 2 shares on issue at that time into 1 share.

All tenements are in good standing and the Company’s interest in these is as follows:-

Project Tenement Equity (%) Area (km2) Mineralisation Style 

Nagambie Gold Mine MIN5412 51* 7.70 Carlin 

Nagambie South EL4718 51* 37.00 Carlin 

Avenel EL4887 51* 201.00 Carlin 

Bailieston EL4719 100 15.00 Carlin 

Redcastle EL3316 100 6.00 Carlin 

Heathcote ELA4941 100 316.00 Carlin 

Redcastle EL4594 100 4.00 Carlin 

Rushworth EL4723 100 157.00 Carlin 

Taradale EL4527 100 6.00 Fault/Reef & Vein, Carlin

Conlon’s Tunnel EL4890 100 0.51 Fault/Reef & Vein, Carlin

Taradale East EL4895 100 7.00 Fault/Reef & Vein, Carlin 

Taradale SW EL4894 100 2.00 Fault/Reef & Vein, Carlin

Castlemaine EL4722 100 216.00 Fault/Reef & Vein, Carlin 

Howqua EL3424 100 5.00 Stawell (volcanogenic)

Howqua MIN5420 100 0.05 Stawell (volcanogenic)

Wedderburn EL4721 100 261.00 Stawell (volcanogenic) 

Piggoreet ELA4994 100 2.00 Stawell (volcanogenic) 

 Total Area 1,243.26 

*Equity after farmin is completed.
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At the end of the period under review the Company has 70,062,500 ordinary shares and 8,637,000 options on issue. The 

options on issue are as follows:

Expiry Date  Number In Escrow Exercise Price 

On or before 31/12/2007 1,000,000 1,000,000 until 30/6/2008 $0.35 

On or before 30/06/2009 1,500,000 1,500,000 until 30/5/2008 $0.50 

On or before 30/06/2008 6,137,000 6,137,000 until 30/6/2008 $0.20 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

The Company raised $6,000,000 by way of an initial public offering of 30,000,000 shares at 20 cents each and acquired 

the share capital of Sierra Minerals Limited,

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

No matter of circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2006 which has significantly affected or may significantly affect the 

operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity, in 

subsequent financial years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS

The Board of Directors intends to continue with the exploration program in Victoria as outlined in the prospectus dated 3 

May 2006.

The Company’s principal assets are its exploration and mining licences in Victoria. The Company is actively exploring its 

tenements for commercially viable deposits of gold and base metals and plans to participate in geochemical surveys and 

drilling activity in the 2006-2007 financial year.

The Company intends to fully evaluate the potential of all known gold and base metals discoveries within its tenements to 

support commercially viable developments.

Directors believe that the Company can continue to evaluate opportunities to grow its current operations.

Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results have not been 

included in this report because the Directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

As the Company is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange, it is subject to the continuous disclosure requirements of the 

ASX Listing Rules which require immediate disclosure to the market of information that is likely to have a material effect on 

the price or value of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited’s securities.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

The Company’s exploration and mining tenements are located in Victoria. The operation of these tenements is subject to 

compliance with the Victoria and Commonwealth mining and environmental regulations and legislation. 

Licence requirements relating to ground disturbance, rehabilitation and waste disposal exist for all tenements held. The 

Directors are not aware of any breaches of mining and environmental regulations and legislation during the period covered 

by this report.
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The number of meetings of the Directors held during the period and the number of meetings attended by each Director 

were as follows:

Director Meetings of Directors Directors Meetings held  Audit and Compliance 

 during period of office Committee

Number of Meetings 7 7 3 

J W Cornelius 7 7 3 

I D Buckingham 7 7 - 

M W Trumbull 7 7 3 

P I Rudd 7 7 3 

A R Ristrom 3 3 1 

P J Cameron 4 4 -

 

Committee membership and meetings

The Audit and Compliance Committee was established upon ASX Listing. The current members of the Committee are Peter 

I Rudd, Chairman, Andrew R Ristrom and John W Cornelius.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY

The Directors are responsible for the corporate governance of Panaegis Gold Mines and for protecting the rights and 

interests of shareholders. The Board, when appointing committees, will determine the terms of reference and reporting 

accountability. In general terms, all committees will be responsible to the Board which will ratify committee findings and 

decisions.

It is the policy of the Board to maintain at least a balance of executive and Non-Executive Directors and implement a number 

of corporate governance practices through the following specialist committee:

Audit and Compliance Committee:

This Committee is chaired by Mr P I Rudd and comprises Non-Executive Directors; Mr A R Ristrom and Mr J W Cornelius. 

The Company’s external auditor attends by invitation.

REMUNERATION REPORT

Compensation Policy

1. Board Policy for Determining Compensation of Directors, Secretary and Senior Managers

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing the compensation of the Directors, the Managing Director, the 

executive officers and senior managers of the Company and reviewing the operation of the Company’s Employee Option 

Plan. This process requires consideration of the levels and form of remuneration appropriate to securing, motivating 

and retaining executives with the skills to manage the Company’s operations in order to retain and attract executives of 

sufficient calibre to facilitate the efficient and effective management of the Company’s operations, the Board of Directors 

seeks the advice of external advisers in connection with the structure of remuneration packages. The Board of Directors 

also recommend set levels and form of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors with reference to performance, relevant 

comparative remuneration and independent expert advice. The total sum of remuneration payable to Non-Executive 

Directors shall not exceed the sum fixed by members of the Company in general meeting.
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2. Relationship between Board Policy for Determining Compensation of Directors, Secretary and Senior 

Managers and the Company’s Performance

There is no direct relationship between the Company’s Remuneration Policy and the Company’s performance. That 

is, no portion of the remuneration of Directors, Secretaries or Senior Managers are ‘at risk’. However, in determining 

the remuneration to be paid in each subsequent financial year, the Board will have regard to the Company’s 

performance. Therefore, the relationship between the Remuneration Policy and the Company’s performance is indirect.  

3. Elements of the Remuneration of Directors, Secretaries and Senior Managers Dependent Upon the 

Satisfaction of Performance Conditions

 No portion of the remuneration of Directors, the Secretary or Senior Managers is dependent on the satisfaction of a 

performance condition.

4. Compensation of key management personnel 

Year ended Short Term Post Employment Share Based Other Long Termination Total 

30 June 2006 Benefits Benefits Payment Term Benefits Benefits 

 Salary & Fees Superannuation Options  

 $ $ $   $ 

Directors  

J W Cornelius (1) 192,865 - - - - 192,865

I D Buckingham (2) 194,363 - 18,058 - - 212,421

M W Trumbull (3) 10,725 - - - - 10,725

A R Ristrom - - - - - -

P I Rudd (4) 7,000 - - - - 7,000

P J Cameron (6) 12,469 - - - - 12,469

 417,422 - 18,058 - - 435,480

Exploration Manager  

N T Motton (7) 175,238 - - - - 175,238

 175,238 - - - - 175,238

Year ended Short Term Post Employment Share Based Other Long  Termination Total

30 June 2005 Benefits Benefits Payment Term Benefits Benefits   

 Salary & Fees Superannuation Options  

 $ $ $   $

Directors  

J W Cornelius 140,349 - - - - 140,349

I D Buckingham (2)(5) 90,000 - 4,122 - - 94,122

M W Trumbull - - - - - -

A R Ristrom - - - - - -

P I Rudd 20,000 - - - - 20,000

 250,349 - 4,122 - - 254,471

Exploration Manager  

N T Motton (7) 18,500 - - - - 18,500

 18,500 - - - - 18,500
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(1) Directors fees were paid to IMI Consulting Pty Ltd, a company which is controlled by John Cornelius.

(2) Directors fees were paid to Lisacorp Pty Ltd, a company which is controlled by Ian Buckingham.

(3) Directors fees were paid to Cypron Pty Ltd <The MW Trumbull Superannuation Fund> of which Michael Trumbull is a 

beneficiary.

(4) Directors fees were paid to Balmerino Pty Ltd, a company which is controlled by Peter I Rudd.

(5) Valued as per indicative valuation dated 29 August 2005 by PKF Corporate Advisory

(6) Directors fees were paid to Resource Invest Pty Ltd a company which is controlled by Peter J Cameron

(7) Fees were paid to Flitegold Pty Ltd for the provision of services of Neil Motton as Exploration Manager

In accordance with ASX Listing Rule 10.17, the current maximum aggregate compensation payable out of the funds of the 

Company to Non-Executive Directors for their services as directors is $250,000. For the year ending 30 June 2007, the 

Board resolved that the chairman’s remuneration be set at $75,000 and that Non-Executive Director’s remuneration be set 

at $40,000 per annum with additional amounts payable for committee participation.

5. Elements of compensation of Directors and 5 Named Highest Paid Company Executives Consisting of 

Securities

No element of the compensation of the Directors or the Company Secretary consists of the issue of securities.

6. Compensation Related to Performance of Each Director and the Named Company Executives

In relation to each person named in part 4 of this Remuneration Report:

the proportion of compensation that is not related to performance; 100% 

proportion of compensation that is related to performance; 0% 

the value of options that were granted, lapsed or exercised as part Nil – No options granted.

of the compensation; and 

the percentage of the value of the person’s compensation for the  0%

financial year that consists of options. 

7. Details Relating to Employment Contracts

Mr Buckingham is employed under a contract which has a two year duration ending on 30 June 2008. The terms of the 

contract provide that either party may terminate the contract on the giving of 6 months prior notice of termination.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

During the financial year, the Company has paid a premium to insure the Directors and Secretary of the Company against the 

costs and expenses that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings brought against the officers in their capacity 

as officers of the Company. The terms of contract prohibit the disclosure of the premiums paid in respect of this insurance. 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to 

which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of these 

proceedings.

21



AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2006 has been received and can be found at page 

23 of the financial report.

Non Audit Services

The auditors provided services in relation to the Initial Public Offering in their capacity as members of the Due Diligence 

Committee and as Investigating Accountants

The board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committee, is satisfied with the provision of non-audit 

services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditor’s imposed by the Corporations 

Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that the services disclosed above did not compromise the external auditor’s 

independence for the following reasons:

• all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to commencement to ensure they do not 

adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and,

• the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence as set 

out in Code of Conduct APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants’, issued by the Accounting Professional 

and Ethical Standards Board.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors and dated this 29th day of September 2006.

 

 I D Buckingham J W Cornelius

 Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer Non-Executive Chairman

 P I Rudd A R Ristrom

 Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director

 M W Trumbull

 Non-Executive Director
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DTT Victoria

The Directors

Panaegis Gold Mines Limited

Level 1, 33 Bank Street

SOUTH MELBOURNE VIC 3205 

 

29 September 2006

Dear Board Members

Panaegis Gold Mines Limited

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of 

independence to the directors of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited.

As lead audit partner for the review of the financial statements of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited for the financial year ended 

30 June 2006, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours sincerely

DTT Victoria

Chartered Accountants

M J SCHOFIELD

Partner

DTT Victoria
ABN 96 080 779 423
180 Lonsdale Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78B
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX 111
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9208 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9208 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
DTT Victoria has changed its name from BDO and is a continuation of that Victorian partnership. The partners of DTT Victoria have also joined the Australian 
partnership of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
All changes with effect from 14 August 2006.
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 Consolidated Company

 Note Year Ended Period from Year Ended Period from 

  30 June 2006 29 October    30 June  29 October   

   2004 to  2006 2004 to

   30 June 2005  30 June 2005

  $ $ $ $

Revenue 2 35,969 4,150 34,875 4,150 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (1,850) (83) (1,850) (83) 

Administrative expenses  (137,266) (21,542) (135,324) (21,542) 

Consultants fees  (217,331) (102,000) (217,331) (102,000) 

Employee benefits  (18,058) (4,122) (18,058) (4,122) 

Insurance  (50,662) - (50,662) - 

Legal fees  (30,989) (12,000) (30,989) (12,000) 

Printing, stationery and supplies  (58,472) (6,222) (58,472) (6,222) 

Secretarial  (59,119) (34,155) (59,119) (34,155) 

Travel  (40,934) (3,988) (40,534) (3,988) 

Finance Costs  - (55) - (55) 

Impairment of loans to subsidiaries  - - (1,248) - 

Total expenses  2 (614,681) (184,167) (613,587) (184,167) 

Loss before income tax expense  (578,712) (180,017) (578,712) (180,017) 

Income tax expense 3 - - - - 

Net loss for the period  (578,712) (180,017) (578,712) (180,017) 

Net loss attributable to members 

of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited  (578,712) (180,017) (578,712) (180,017) 

Basic earnings per Share (cents per share) 4 (.92) (1.11) 

Diluted earnings per Share (cents per share) 4 (.92) (1.11) 
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 Consolidated Company

 Note 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 

   2006 2005    2006  2005   

  $ $ $ $

Current Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 14(b) 4,879,002 810,190 4,878,522 810,190 

Trade and other receivables 5 92,306 42,630 67,191 42,630 

Loan receivables 9 - - 388,329 - 

Other 6 - 27,896 - 27,896  

 

Total Current Assets  4,971,308 880,716 5,334,042 880,716 

Non-Current Assets  

Plant and equipment 7 11,240 1,463 11,240 1,463 

Other financial assets 8 - - 1,660,000 - 

Deferred exploration and evaluation costs 10 4,337,931 309,834 2,315,197 309,834

Total Non-Current Assets  4,349,171 311,297 3,986,437 311,297

Total Assets  9,320,479 1,192,013 9,320,479 1,192,013

Current Liabilities  

Trade and other payables 11 676,950 260,333 676,950 260,333

Total Current Liabilities  676,950 260,333 676,950 260,333

Total Liabilities  676,950 260,333 676,950 260,333

Net Assets  8,643,529 931,680 8,643,529 931,680

Equity 

Issued capital 12 9,380,078 1,107,575 9,380,078 1,107,575 

Options reserve  22,180 4,122 22,180 4,122 

Accumulated losses 13 (758,729) (180,017) (758,729) (180,017)

Total Equity  8,643,529 931,680 8,643,529 931,680 
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CONSOLIDATED Issued  Option Retained

 Capital Reserve Earnings Total

 $ $ $ $

Balance at 29 October 2004 - - - - 

Shares issued during the year 1,107,575 - - 1,107,575 

Cost of share based payments - 4,122 - 4,122 

Loss attributable to members of parent entity * - - (180,017) (180,017) 

Balance at 30 June 2005 1,107,575 4,122 (180,017) 931,680 

Shares issued during the year 9,145,000 - - 9,145,000 

Cost of share based payments - 18,058 - 18,058 

Share issue costs (872,497) - - (872,497) 

Loss attributable to members of parent entity * - - (578,712) (578,712) 

Balance at 30 June 2006 9,380,078 22,180 (758,729) 8,643,529 

COMPANY Issued  Option Retained

 Capital Reserve Earnings Total

 $ $ $ $

Balance at 29 October 2004 - - - - 

Shares issued during the year 1,107,575 - - 1,107,575 

Cost of share based payments - 4,122 - 4,122 

Loss attributable to members of parent entity * - - (180,017) (180,017) 

 1,107,575 4,122 (180,017) 931,680 

Balance at 30 June 2005  

Shares issued during the year 9,145,000 - - 9,145,000 

Cost of share based payments - 18,058 - 18,058 

Share issue costs (872,497) - - (872,497) 

Loss attributable to members of parent entity * - - (578,712) (578,712) 

Balance at 30 June 2006 9,380,078 22,180 (758,729) 8,643,529 

* Loss attributable to members of the parent entity is the total recognised income and expense for the period.
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 Consolidated Company

 Note Year Ended Period from Year Ended Period from 

  30 June 29 October    30 June  29 October   

   2006 2004 to  2006 2004 to

   30 June 2005  30 June 2005

  $ $ $ $

Cash Flows From Operating Activities  

Payments to suppliers and employees  (670,411) (148,026) (669,797) (148,026) 

Interest received  35,969 4,150 34,875 4,150 

Interest paid  - (55) - (55) 

  

Net Cash Flows Used in Operating Activities 14(a) (634,442) (143,931) (634,922) (143,931) 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities  

Purchase of plant and equipment  (11,627) (1,546) (11,627) (1,546) 

Payment for exploration costs  (742,883) (141,908) (742,883) (141,908) 

Payments for options to acquire shares in other companies - (10,000) - (10,000) 

Payments to acquire exploration licences  (295,000) - (295,000) - 

Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities  (1,049,510) (153,454) (1,049,510) (153,454) 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities  

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares   6,495,000 1,198,000 6,495,000 1,198,000 

Payment regarding Initial Public Offering  (727,686) - (727,686) - 

Payment of other share issue costs  (14,550) (90,425) (14,550) (90,425) 

Net Cash Flows From Financing Activities  5,752,764 1,107,575 5,752,764 1,107,575 

Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents  4,068,812 810,190 4,068,332 810,190 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 

the financial period  810,190 - 810,190 - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of  

the financial period 14(b) 4,879,002 810,190 4,878,522 810,190 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Statement of Compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, Accounting Standards and Urgent Issues Group Interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law. 

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘A-IFRS’). Compliance 

with the A-IFRS ensures that the consolidated financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity comply with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). The parent entity financial statements and notes also comply with IFRS 

except for the disclosure requirements in IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ as the Australian 

equivalent Accounting Standard, AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ does not require such 

disclosures to be presented by the parent entity where its separate financial statements are presented together with the 

consolidated financial statements of the consolidated entity.

Basis of Preparation

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards. The financial report has also been prepared on a historical 

cost basis, except for available-for-sale investments, which have been measured at fair value. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.

Issued standards not early adopted

The following standards and amendments were available for early adoption but have not been applied by the Company in 

these financial statements:

• AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure (August 2005) replacing the presentation requirements of financial instruments 

in AASB 132. AASB 7 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

• AASB 2005-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (September 2005) requires that liabilities arising from 

the issue of financial guarantee contracts are recognised in the balance sheet. AASB 2005-9 is applicable for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.

• AASB 2005-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (September 2005) makes consequential amendments 

to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and Presentation, AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, 

AASB 114 Segment Reporting AASB 117 Leases, AASB 133 Earnings per Share, AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement, AASB 1 First time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting 

Standards, AASB 4 Insurance Contracts, AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts and AASB 1038 Life Insurance 

Contracts, arising from the release of AASB 7. AASB 2005-10 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2007.

The Company plans to adopt AASB7, AASB 2005-9 and AASB 2005-10 in the 2007 financial year.

The initial application of AASB 2005-9 is not expected to have any financial impact on the financial statements of the 

Company as the Company at present has no financial guarantee contracts in place.

The initial application of AASB7 and AASB 2005-10 is not expected to have an impact on the financial results of the 

Company as the standard and the amendment are concerned only with disclosures.
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The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities that comprise 

the consolidated entity, being the company (the parent entity) and its subsidiaries as defined in Accounting Standard 

AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Sierra Minerals Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of 

the Company. Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements.

On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the 

date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is 

recognised as goodwill. If, after reassessment, the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired exceed the cost of 

acquisition, the deficiency is credited to profit and loss in the period of acquisition.

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of the subsidiary from the date on which the 

company obtains control and until such time as the company ceases to control such entity.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter company balances and transactions, and unrealised profits 

arising within the consolidated entity are eliminated in full.

(a) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of future 

events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

Share-based payment transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 

instruments at the date at which they are granted.

(c) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue 

can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Interest Income

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial 

asset.

(d) Income Tax

Current tax

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable 

profit or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent 

that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
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arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 

corresponding tax base of those items.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised 

to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary 

differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 

recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other 

than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a 

deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, branches, 

associates and joint ventures except where the consolidated entity is able to control the reversal of the temporary 

differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests are 

only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 

benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the 

asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 

consequences that would follow from the manner in which the consolidated entity expects, at the reporting date, to 

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

(e) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

• where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 

which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 

applicable; and

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 

payables in the Balance Sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 

from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as 

operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 

authority.

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Cash on hand and in banks and short term deposits are stated at nominal value. 

 For the purposes of the Cash flow Statement, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and money market investments 

readily converted to cash, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
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(g) Financial Assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a 

contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and 

are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements and the 

cost method in the company financial statements.

Other financial assets are classified into the following specified category: ‘loans and receivables’. The classification 

depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less impairment.

Transaction costs on the issue of equity instruments

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the 

proceeds of the equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are incurred directly in 

connection with the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have been incurred had those instruments 

not been issued.

Interest and dividends

Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the balance sheet 

classification of the related debt or equity instruments or component parts of compound instruments.

(h) Share-based payments 

Equity-settled share-based payments granted after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of 1 January 2005, are 

measured at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value is measured by use of a binomial model. The expected life used 

in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 

restrictions, and behavioural considerations.  The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-

based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the consolidated entity’s estimate 

of shares that will eventually vest. For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to the portion of the goods 

or services received is recognised at the current fair value determined at each reporting date.

 (i) Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The consolidated entity applies AASB 6 Exploration For and Evaluation of Mineral Resources. Exploration and evaluation 

expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. These costs are only carried forward 

to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development of the area or where activities 

in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically 

recoverable reserves.

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against operating results in the year in which 

the decision to abandon the area is made. When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area 

of interest are amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable 

reserves.

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward 
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costs in relation to that area of interest.

Costs of site restoration are recognised in full at present value as a non-current liability and an equivalent amount 

capitalised as part of the cost of the asset when an obligation arises to decommission or restore a site to a certain 

condition after abandonment as a result of bringing the assets to their present location. The capitalised cost is amortised 

over the life of the project and the provision is accreted periodically as the discounting of the liability unwinds. The 

unwinding of the discount is recorded as interest expense. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of 

mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses 

of the mining permits. Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and 

technology. Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis.

(j) Impairment of Assets (other than exploration and evaluation)

At each reporting date, the consolidated entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the consolidated entity estimates 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 

impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. An impairment of goodwill is 

not subsequently reversed.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 

future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 

have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 

the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 

recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment 

loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased 

to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

(cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless 

the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 

increase.

(k) Plant and Equipment

Acquisition

Items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and depreciated as outlined below.

ii) Depreciation

 Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis at rates based upon the expected useful lives of these 

assets. The expected useful lives of these assets are 3-6 years (30 June 2005: 3-6 years).
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(l) Leases

 Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the 

agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating Leases

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and 

benefits of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis.  Contingent rentals 

are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which they are incurred. The consolidated entity has no operating 

leases as at 30 June 2006.

Finance Leases

Leases which effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to 

the group are capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed as plant and equipment 

under lease. A lease liability of equal value is also recognised. The consolidated entity has no finance leases as at 30 

June 2006.

(m)  Payables

 Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes obliged to make 

future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.

(n) Contributed Equity

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company.

Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction in the share 

proceeds received.

(o) Employee Benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service 

leave, and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured 

reliably.

A liability is recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their 

nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

A liability is recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are 

measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the consolidated entity in respect 

of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

(p) Earnings per Share (“EPS”)

Basic EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than 

dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for 

any bonus element.
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Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted for:

• Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;

• The after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been 

recognised as expenses; and

• Other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of 

potential ordinary shares

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus 

element.

(q) Impact of Adoption of AIFRS

The impact of adopting AIFRS on profit before tax as reported under previous AGAAP is illustrated at note 23 below.

(r) Date of incorporation

 The company was incorporated on 29 October 2004 and accordingly June 2005 year figures reflect the period from the 

date of incorporation to 30 June 2005.

 Consolidated Company

 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 

  2006 2005    2006  2005  

 $ $ $ $

Note 2. Revenue and Expenses   

(a) Revenue  

Revenue from continuing operations consisted of:  

Interest – Other persons/corporations 35,969 4,150 34,568 4,150 

Total Revenue 35,969 4,150 34,568 4,150 

(b) Loss before income tax 

Loss before income tax has been arrived at after 

crediting/(charging) the following expenses from 

continuing operations:

Depreciation 1,850 83 1,850 83 

Finance costs – Other persons/corporations - 55 - 55 
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Note 3. Income Tax  

(a) The prima facie tax, using tax rates applicable in the 

country of operations, on operating loss differs from the 

income tax provided in the financial statements as follows: 

Loss from operations 578,712 180,017 (578,712) 180,017 

Prima facie tax calculated at 30% (173,613) (54,005) (173,239) (52,768) 

Add tax effect of:  

- Non deductible expenses -  

- Share based payments 5,400 1,200 5,400 1,200 

Less tax effect of:  

- Capital raising costs 261,749 - 261,749 - 

Movement in tax asset not recognised (261,749) - (261,749 - 

Current year tax loss not recognised 168,213 52,805 168,213 52,805 

 - - - - 

(b) Assets 

Non-current

Deferred tax asset comprises:

- Capital raising costs 261,749 - 261,749 - 

- Amount not recognised (261,749) - (261,749) - 

 - - - -

(c) Reconciliation

(i) Gross movements

The overall movement in the deferred tax balances is as follows: 

Opening balance - - - - 

Charge/(credit) to income statement - - - - 

Charge/(credit) to the equity - - - - 

Closing balance - - - - 

(ii) Deferred tax assets  

The movement in the deferred tax asset for each 

temporary difference during the year is as follows: 

Capital raising costs 

Opening balance - - - - 

Charge to equity 261,749 - 261,749 - 

Amount not recognised (261,749) - (261,749) - 

 - - - - 
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(d) Deferred tax assets not bought to account, the 

benefits of which will only be realised if the conditions 

for deductibility set out in note 1 (d) occur: 

Temporary differences 261,749 - 261,749 - 

Tax losses (revenue or operating losses) 168,213 52,805 168,213 52,805 

 429,962 52,805 429,962 52,805 

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on 

taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in the corporate tax rate when compared with the 

previous reporting period.

  Company

 30 June 2006  30 June 2005

Note 4. Earnings per Share 

The following reflects the income and share data used in calculating 

basic and diluted earnings per share: 

Net loss 578,712  180,017 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) (.92)  (1.11) 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) (.92)  (1.11) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 

basic earnings per share 62,270,833 15,794,286 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 

diluted earnings per share 62,270,833 15,794,286 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated after classifying all options on issue remaining unconverted at 30 June 2006 as 

potential ordinary shares. As at 30 June 2006, the Company has 8,637,000 options over unissued capital on issue and has 

incurred a net loss. As the notional exercise price of these options is greater than the current market price of the shares 

they have not been included in the calculations of diluted earnings per share.

 Consolidated Company

 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 

  2006 2005    2006  2005  

 $ $ $ $

Note 5. Trade and other receivables – Current  

Deposits – Environmental Bonds 20,153 20,000 20,153 20,000 

GST receivable (net) 47,038 22,630 47,038 22,630 

Other 25,115 - - -

 92,306 42,630 67,191 42,630

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments

(i) Other receivables are non interest bearing and have repayment terms between eight and ninety days.

(ii) Details of the terms and conditions of any related party receivables are set out in Note 24. 

Note 6. Other Current Assets  

Prepayments – Initial Public Offering - 17,896 - 17,896 

Option to acquire Sierra Minerals Limited - 10,000 - 10,000

 - 27,896 - 27,896 

37



Note 7. Plant and Equipment  

  Consolidated   Company

 Plant & Computer Total Plant & Computer Total

 Equipment & Equipment   Equipment & Equipment  

  low value pool & Software  low value pool & Software  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Year ended 30 June 2006 

At 1 July 2005, net of accumulated 

depreciation - 1,463 1,463 - 1,463 1,463 

Additions 2,682 8,945 11,627 2,682 8,945 11,627 

Depreciation expense - 1,850 1,850 - 1,850 1,850 

At 30 June 2006, net of accumulated 

depreciation 2,682 8,558 11,240 2,682 8,558 11,240 

At 1 July 2005 

Cost - 1,546 1,546 - 1,546 1,546 

Accumulated depreciation - 83 83 - 83 83 

Net carrying amount - 1,463 1,463 - 1,463 1,463 

At 30 June 2006 

Cost 2,682 10,491 13,1733 2,682 10,491 13,173 

Accumulated depreciation - 1,933 1,9333 - 1,933 1,933 

Net carrying amount 2,682 8,558 11,2400 2,682 8,558 11,240 

Year ended 30 June 2005 

At 1 July 2004, net of accumulated 

depreciation - - - - - - 

Additions - 1,546 1,546 - 1,546 1,546 

Depreciation expense - 83 83 - 83 83 

At 30 June 2006, net of accumulated 

depreciation - 1,463 1,463 - 1,463 1,463 

At 1 July 2004  

Cost - - - - - - 

Accumulated depreciation - - - - - - 

Net carrying amount - - - - - - 

At 30 June 2005  

Cost - 1,546 1,546 - 1,546 1,546 

Accumulated depreciation - 83 83 - 83 83 

Net carrying amount - 1,463 1,463 - 1,463 1,463 
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 Consolidated Company

 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 

  2006 2005    2006  2005  

 $ $ $ $

Note 8. Other financial assets 

Shares in subsidiaries at cost - - 1,660,000 - 

Accumulated impairment - - - - 

Investment in wholly owned subsidiaries - - 1,660,000 - 

Note 9. Loans receivables 

Receivable from wholly owned subsidiary - - 389,577 - 

Accumulated impairment - - (1,248) -

 - - 388,329 - 

Loans to subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand. 

Ultimate recovery of loan receivables is dependent upon success in exploration and development or sale or farm-out of the 

subsidiaries’ exploration costs.  

Note 10. Deferred Exploration and Evaluation Costs 

Balance at beginning of the period 309,834 309,834 309,834 309,834 

Additional expenditure carried forward 4,028,097 - 2,005,363 - 

Write-off during financial period - - - - 

Balance at end of the period 4,337,931 309,834 2,315,197 309,834 

Deferred exploration and evaluation costs 4,337,931 309,834 2,315,197 309,834 

Ultimate recovery of deferred exploration and evaluation costs is dependent upon success in exploration and evaluation or 

sale or farm-out of the exploration interests.

Deferred Exploration and Evaluation Costs includes expenditure amounting to $360,315 incurred at the licence areas 

through the group’s subsidiary.

Note 11. Trade and other payables - Current 

Trade payables 154,374 110,333 154,374 110,333 

Accrued Expenses 522,576 - 522,576 - 

Licences from Mike Garrett Pty Ltd - 150,000 - 150,000 

 676,950 260,333 676,950 260,333 

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are usually settled on 30 day terms.

(ii) Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 30 days. 
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 Consolidated Company

 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 

  2006 2005    2006  2005  

 $ $ $ $

Note 12. Contributed Equity 

(a)  Issued and paid up capital

     Ordinary shares fully paid 9,380,078 1,107,575 9,380,078 1,107,575 

(b)  Movements in shares on issue Year ended 30 June 2006 Year ended 30 June 2005

Details Number of Issued Number of Issued 

  Shares  Capital  Shares Capital

 Issued $ Issued $

Beginning of the financial year 41,250,000 1,107,575 -           - 

Movements during the year 

- share placements

29 October 2004   4,000 4,000

On 17 December 2004 these shares were 

split into 400,000 ordinary fully paid shares   396,000 -

17 December 2004   11,000,000 -

20 May 2005   28,850,000 1,154,000

17 June 2005   1,000,000 40,000

12 August to 8 September 2005 12,375,000 495,000

12 August 2005 (i) 4,750,000 950,000

26 August 2005 (ii) 6,000,000 1,200,000

9 September 2005 (iii) 2,500,000 500,000

- share consolidation (26,812,500) - - -

- initial public offer  30,000,000 6,000,000 - - 

Less: costs of share issues -  (872,497) - (90,425) 

Closing balance 70,062,500 9,380,078 41,250,000 1,107,575 

Capital Transactions

The Company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange on the 23 June 2006. 30,000,000 shares were issued according to 

the prospectus dated 3 May 2006 for an Initial Public Offering. Other shares were issued in accordance to the prospectus 

as detailed:

(i) Shares issued to acquire exploration licences from Mike Garrett Pty Ltd

The issue of 4,750,000 shares at 20 cents per share as part consideration for the acquisition of exploration licences 

held by Mike Garrett Pty Ltd.

(ii) Shares issued to acquire Sierra Minerals Limited

The issue of 6,000,000 shares at 20 cents per share as part consideration for the acquisition of the issued capital of 

Sierra Minerals Limited
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(iii) Shares issued to acquire exploration licences from Flitegold Pty Ltd

The issue of 2,500,000 shares at 20 cents per share as part consideration for the acquisition of exploration and mining 

licences held by Flitegold Pty Ltd.

(c) Terms and condition of contributed equity

Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up of the Company, to 

participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares 

held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.

Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital 

from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not 

have a par value. 

Executive Options

The consolidated entity has an ownership-based remuneration scheme for executives (including executive directors) of the 

company. In accordance with the provisions of the scheme, as approved by shareholders at a previous annual general 

meeting, executives with the company may be granted options to purchase parcels of ordinary shares at an exercise price 

determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  Each executive share option converts into one ordinary share of 

Panaegis Gold Mines Limited on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option. The 

options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to 

the date of their expiry. The number of options granted is at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company. The 

options granted expire approximately two years after their issue, or one month of the resignation of the executive, whichever 

is the earlier.

Information with respect to the number of options granted is as follows:

 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

 Number of Weighted average Number of Weighted average 

  Options  exercise price  Options exercise price

Balance at beginning of period 2,500,000 $0.44 - 

- granted 6,137,000 $0.20 2,500,000 $0.2694 

- lapsed/exercised - -   

Balance at end of period 8,637,000  2,500,000 

Options held at the beginning and end of the reporting period

No. of Options Grant Date Vesting Date Expiry Date Weighted average 

    exercise price 

1,000,000 20/05/2005 20/05/2005 31/12/2007 $0.35 

6,137,000 23/06/2006 23/06/2006 30/06/2008 $0.20 

1,500,000 20/05/2005 20/05/2005 30/06/2009 $0.50 

8,637,000  
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 Consolidated Company

 30 June 2006 30 June 2005 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

 $ $ $ $

Note 13. Accumulated Losses 

(a) Accumulated Losses  

Accumulated losses at the beginning of 

the financial period 180,017 - 180,017 - 

Net loss attributable to members of 

Panaegis Gold Mines Limited 578,712 180,017 578,712 180,017 

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial period 758,729 180,017 758,729 180,017 

(b) Franking Credits 

There are no franking credits available for the subsequent financial year.

 Consolidated Company

 30 June 2006 30 June 2005 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

 $ $ $ $  

Note 14. Cash and cash equivalents 

(a) Reconciliation of loss after tax to net cash flows from operations 

Net loss for the period (578,712) (180,017) (578,712) (180,017) 

Non cash flows in operating result 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,850 83 1,850 83 

Operating cash flows not expensed 

Payments for exploration costs (537,968) (167,926) (537968) (167926) 

Changes in assets and liabilities 

Decrease/(increase) in receivables  42,630 (42,630) 42,630 (42,630) 

Increase/(decrease) in prepayments 17,896 (17,896) 17,896 (17,896 

Increase in payables 419,862 264,455 419,862 264,455 

Net cash used in operating activities (634,442) (143,931) (634,442) (143,931) 

(b) Reconciliation of cash 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: 

Cash on hand and at call 879,002 810,190 878,522 810,190 

Term deposits 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 - 

 4,879,002 810,190 4,878,522 810,190 

(c) Financing Facility 

The group has no available finance facilities at balance date. 

(d) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities 

Acquisition of Subsidiaries

The parent entity acquired 100% of Sierra Minerals Limited on 31 August 2005. Sierra Minerals holds Exploration Licences 

EL4719 Bailieston, EL4721 Wedderburn West, EL4722 Castlemaine, EL4723 Rushworth and EL4718 Nagambie South. Under 

the Share Sale Agreement Panaegis Gold Limited made a payment to the vendors of $60,000 ($10,000 by way of deposit 

paid in September 2004) on the execution of the Share Sale Agreement. A payment of $100,000 was made to Perseverance 

Corporation Limited in respect to the Nagambie Farm-in and Joint Venture Agreement between Sierra Minerals and Perseverance 

Mining Pty Ltd .Under the Share Sale Agreement a further payment of $300,000 and the issue of Panaegis Gold shares at the 

equivalent IPO price to the value of $1,200,000 was made on the listing of Panaegis Gold Limited on the ASX.
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Note 15. Expenditure Commitments

The company has no expenditure commitments at the end of the financial year, except.

 Payable Within Payable after

 1 Year 1 year and within 5 years

 $ $ 

Minimum expenditure commitments under tenement licences  521,750 1,777,000

 

Note 16. Subsequent Events

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period that have significantly affected or may have a 

significant effect on the financial operations of the consolidated entity, the financial performance of those operations or the 

financial position of the consolidated entity in the subsequent financial year.

Note 17. Superannuation Commitments

The consolidated entity did not have a liability to make such payments this year however in future when such a liability arises 

it will contribute to a defined contribution fund in accordance with the Government Superannuation Guarantee legislation.

Note 18. Key Management Personnel

(a)  Key Management Personnel

The directors of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited during the year were:

J W Cornelius Chairman (non-executive) Appointed 29 October 2004 

I D Buckingham Managing Director / CEO Appointed 29 October 2004 

M W Trumbull Director - Mining (non-executive) Appointed 28 July 2005 

A R Ristrom Director (non-executive) Appointed 15 March 2006 

P I Rudd Director (non-executive) Appointed 29 October 2004 

P J Cameron Director (non-executive) Appointed 17 June 2005 

  Resigned 16/03/2006 

The other key management personnel of Panaegis Gold Mining Limited during the year were:

N T Motton Exploration Manager  

(b)  Compensation of Key Management Personnel

(i)  Compensation Policy

The Board of Directors of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation 

arrangements for the directors and executives. The Board’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration package 

properly reflects the person’s duties and responsibilities, with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit 

from the retention of a high quality board and executives. Such officers will be given the opportunity to receive their base 

emolument in a variety of forms, including cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles. It is intended that the manner 

of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost to the company.

To assist in achieving these objectives, the Board links the nature and amount of compensation to the company’s financial 

and operational performance. All key management personnel will have the opportunity to qualify for executive options under 

an Executive Share and/or Option Plan which will provide incentives where specified performance criteria are met. 
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The Company has entered into an employment agreement with Mr Buckingham, the Company’s Managing Director. The 

agreement provides for an initial term commencing on 1 June 2006 and ending on 30 June 2008. The agreement is in 

accordance to comparative commercial terms and provides for the payment of a total compensation package which is 

commensurate with remuneration packages offered to Managing Directors of public companies of a similar size and industry 

grouping as the Company. Upon listing of the Company on the ASX, for the year ending 30 June 2007, Mr Buckingham will 

receive compensation of $180,000 per annum plus superannuation.

‘Compensation’ includes all employee benefits including share-based payments. Employee benefits are all forms of 

consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered to the 

entity. It also includes such consideration paid on behalf of a parent of the entity in respect of the entity. Compensation 

includes: 

(a) short-term employee benefits, such as wages, salaries and superannuation contributions, paid annual leave and paid 

sick leave, profit-sharing and bonuses (if payable within twelve months of the end of the period);

(b) other long-term employee benefits, including long-service leave or sabbatical leave and, if they are not payable wholly 

within twelve months after the end of the period, profit-sharing, bonuses and deferred compensation;

(c) termination benefits; and 

(d) share-based payment.

(ii)  Compensation of Key Management Personnel

Year ended Short Term Post Employment Share Based Other Long Termination Total

30 June 2006 Benefits Benefits Payment Term Benefits Benefits

 Salary & Fees Superannuation Options 

 $ $ $   $ 

Directors  

J W Cornelius (1) 192,865 - - - - 192,865 

I D Buckingham (2) 194,363 - 18,058 - - 212,421 

M W Trumbull (3) 10,725 - - - - 10,725 

A R Ristrom - - - - - - 

P I Rudd (4) 7,000 - - - - 7,000 

P J Cameron (6) 12,469 - - - - 12,469

 417,422 - 18,058 - - 435,480 

Exploration Manager 

N T Motton (7) 175,238 - - - - 175,238

 175,238 - - - - 175,238 
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Year ended Short Term Post Employment Share Based Other Long Termination Total

30 June 2005 Benefits Benefits Payment Term Benefits Benefits

 Salary & Fees Superannuation Options 

 $ $ $   $

Directors  

J W Cornelius 140,349 - - - - 140,349 

I D Buckingham (2)(5) 90,000 - 4,122 - - 94,122 

M W Trumbull - - - - - - 

A R Ristrom - - - - - - 

P I Rudd 20,000 - - - - 20,000

 250,349 - 4,122 - - 254,471 

Exploration Manager 

N T Motton (7) 18,500 - - - - 18,500 

 18,500 - - - - 18,500 

(1) Directors fees were paid to IMI Consulting Pty Ltd, a company which is controlled by John Cornelius.

(2) Directors fees were paid to Lisacorp Pty Ltd, a company which is controlled by Ian Buckingham.

(3) Directors fees were paid to Cypron Pty Ltd <The MW Trumbull Superannuation Fund> of which Michael Trumbull is a 

beneficiary.

(4) Directors fees were paid to Balmerino Pty Ltd, a company which is controlled by Peter I Rudd.

(5) Valued as per indicative valuation dated 29 August 2005 by PKF Corporate Advisory

(6) Directors fees were paid to Resource Invest Pty Ltd a company which is controlled by Peter J Cameron

(7) Fees were paid to Flitegold Pty Ltd for the provision of services of Neil Motton as Exploration Manager

(c)   Remuneration Options: Granted and vested during the period

No options were issued or vested during the reporting period relating to key management personnel.

(d)   Share issued on exercise of remuneration options

No shares were issued on the exercise of remuneration options during the reporting period relating to key management 

personnel.
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(e)  Option holdings of Key Management Personnel

Unlisted options held by key management personnel. Details of options are contained in Note 12

Year ended Opening Granted as Options Net Change Closing Vested and

30 June 2006 Balance remuneration Exercised Other  Balance  exercisable at

 1 July 2005    30 June 2006 30 June 2006  

J W Cornelius - - - - - - 

I D Buckingham 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 2,500,000 

M W Trumbull - - - - - - 

A R Ristrom (*) - - - 500,000 500,000 500,000 

P I Rudd - - - - - - 

P J Cameron - - - - - - 

N T Motton - - - - - - 

Total 2,500,000 - - 500,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 

(*) granted as a result of a contract entered into prior to the becoming a Director of the Company relating to capital raising activities.

Year ended Opening Granted as Options Net Change Closing Vested and

30 June 2005 Balance remuneration Exercised Other  Balance  exercisable at

 1 July 2004    30 June 2005 30 June 2005

J W Cornelius - - - - - - 

I D Buckingham 

(notes 16 (b)(i) &(ii)  - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 2,500,000 

M W Trumbull - - - - - - 

A R Ristrom - - - - - - 

P I Rudd - - - - - - 

P J Cameron - - - - - - 

N T Motton - - - - - - 

Total - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 2,500,000 

(f)   Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel

Year ended  Balance Granted as On exercise Net Change Balance 

30 June 2006  1 July 2005 remuneration of Options Other  30 June 2006  

Ordinary Shares  No. No. No. No. No. 

J W Cornelius  3,200,000 - - (1,400,000) 1,800,000 

I D Buckingham  5,100,000 - - (2,300,000) 2,800,000 

P I Rudd  1,100,000 - - 50,000 1,050,000 

M W Trumbull  - - - 625,000 625,000 

A R Ristrom  - - - - - 

N T Motton  - - - 2,500,000 2,500,000 

Total  9,400,000 - - 625,000 8,775,000 
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Year ended  Balance Granted as On exercise Net Change Balance 

30 June 2005  1 July 2004 remuneration of Options Other  30 June 2005  

Ordinary Shares  No. No. No. No. No.

J W Cornelius  - - - 3,200,000 3,200,000 

I D Buckingham  - - - 5,100,000 5,100,000 

P I Rudd  - - - 1,100,000 1,100,000 

P J Cameron  - - - - - 

M W Trumbull  - - - - - 

N T Motton  - - - - - 

Total  - - - 9,400,000 9,400,000 

All equity transactions with key management personnel other than those arising from the exercise of options have been 

entered into under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the entity would have adopted if dealing at arm’s 

length.

(g)  Other transactions and balances with Key Management Personnel

(1) Directors fees were paid to IMI Consulting Pty Ltd, a company which is controlled by John Cornelius.

(2) Directors fees were paid to Lisacorp Pty, a company which is controlled by Ian Buckingham.

(3) Directors fees were paid to Cypron Pty Ltd <The MW Trumbull Superannuation Fund> of which Michael Trumbull is a 

beneficiary.

(4) Directors fees were paid to Balmerino Pty Ltd, a company which is controlled by Peter I Rudd.

(5) Valued as per indicative valuation dated 29 August 2005 by PKF Corporate Advisory

(6) Directors fees were paid to Resource Invest Pty Ltd a company which is controlled by Peter J Cameron

(7) Fees were paid to Flitegold Pty Ltd for the provision of services of Neil Motton as Exploration Manager

 Consolidated Company

 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 

  2006 2005    2006  2005  

 $ $ $ $

Note 19. Auditors’ Remuneration 

Amounts received or due and receivable by DTT Victoria for:  

•  audit or review of the financial statements of the entity 

   and any other entity in the economic entity 30,000 15,000 30,000 15,000 

•  other non audit services – investigating accountants 

   report into initial public offering 19,153 - 19,153 - 

 49,153 15,000 49,153 15,000 
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Note 20. Related Party Disclosures

(a) The Directors during the financial year were:

J W Cornelius (Non-Executive Chairman)

I D Buckingham (Managing Director / CEO)

M W Trumbull (Director – Mining)

A R Ristrom (Non-Executive Director)

P I Rudd (Non-Executive Director)

P J Cameron (Non-Executive Director) - Resigned 16 March 2006

(b) Information on the compensation of key management personnel is disclosed in Note 18.

(c) Key management personnel shareholding

At period end, the key management personnel held directly and indirectly, 8,275,000 shares and 3,000,000 options in 

the Company. 

 (d) Other related party transactions:

There were no related party transactions other than those described in Note 18(g).

Note 21. Segment Information

Segment products and locations

The consolidated entity operates in the Australian gold and mineral sector where the Company has actively sought gold 

exploration and development opportunities.

Note 22. Financial Instruments

(a) Credit risk exposures

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security at balance date, to 

recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any allowances for doubtful debts, as 

disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.

The group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial 

instruments entered into by the group.

(b) Off-balance sheet derivative instruments

The Company does not utilise any off-balance sheet derivative instruments

(c) Commodity contracts

As at 30 June 2006, the Company does not have any commodity contracts in place

(d) Net Fair Values 

All financial assets and liabilities have been recognised at the balance date at lower of cost and realisable value which 

approximates their net fair value. 
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(e) Interest rate risk exposures

The consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for each class 

of financial assets and financial liabilities is set out in the following table:

  Weighted Floating  Fixed Interest Maturing In:  Non-interest 

  average interest 1 year or over 1 year  5 years  bearing 

  interest rate less to 5 years or more  Total 

 Note rate $ $ $ $ $ $

30 June 2006 

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 12(b) 5.693% 878,522 4,000,000 - - - 4,879,002 

Receivables 5  - - - - 92,306 92,306

   878,522 4,000,000 - - 92,306 4,971,308 

Financial liabilities 

Payables 9  - - - - 676,949 676,949 

Net financial assets/(liabilities)   878,522 4,000,000 - - (584,643) 4,294,359 

30 June 2005 

Financial assets 

Cash and deposits 12(b) 6.01 810,190 - - - - 810,190

Receivables 5  - - - - 42,630 42,630 

   810,190 - - - 42,630 852,820 

Financial liabilities 

Payables 9  - - - - 260,333 260,333 

Net financial assets/(liabilities)   810,190 - - - (217,703) 592,487 
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Note 23. Impact of adoption of Australian equivalents to International Financial Standards

For the period up to 30 June 2005, the consolidated entity prepared its financial statements in accordance with the 

Australian generally accepted accounting practice (AGAAP). These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 are 

the first the consolidated entity is required to prepare in accordance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial 

reporting Standards (A-IFRS). The transition to A-IFRS is accounted for in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1 

‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards’, with 29 October 2004 as the 

date of transition. An explanation of how the transition from superseded policies to A-IFRS has affected the Company and 

consolidated entity’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables and the notes 

that accompany the tables.

Effect of A-IFRS on the balance sheet as at 29 October 2004

 Consolidated Company 

 AGAAP Effect of A-IFRS AGAAP Effect of A-IFRS

  transition to     transition to

  A-IFRS   A-IFRS 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Current Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - - 

Trade and other receivables - - - - - - 

Other - - - - - - 

Total Current Assets - - - - - - 

Non-Current Assets 

Plant and equipment - - - - - - 

Deferred exploration and evaluation costs - - - - - - 

Total Non-Current Assets - - - - - - 

Total Assets - - - - - - 

Current Liabilities 

Trade and other payables - - - - - - 

Total Current Liabilities - - - - - - 

Total Liabilities - - - - - - 

Net Assets - - - - - - 

Equity 

Issued capital - - - - - - 

Options reserves - - - - - - 

Accumulated losses - - - - - - 

Total Equity - - - - - - 

The Company was incorporated on the 29th of October 2004
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Effect of A-IFRS on the income statement for the period from 29 October 2004 to 30 June 2005

 Consolidated Company 

 Note AGAAP Effect of A-IFRS AGAAP Effect of A-IFRS

   transition to     transition to

   A-IFRS   A-IFRS 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (83) - (83) (83) - (83) 

Administrative expenses  (21,542) - (21,542) (21,542) - (21,542)

Consultants fees  (102,000) - (102,000) (102,000) - (102,000) 

Employee benefits A - (4,122) (4,122) - (4,122) (4,122) 

Insurance  - - - - - - 

Legal fees  (12,000) - (12,000) (12,000) - (12,000) 

Printing, stationery and supplies  (6,222) - (6,222) (6,222) - (6,222) 

Secretarial  (34,155) - (34,155) (34,155) - (34,155) 

Travel  (3,988) - (3,988) (3,988) - (3,988) 

Finance Costs  (55) - (55) (55) - (55) 

Impairment of loans to subsidiaries - - - - - - 

Total expenses  (180,045) (4,122) (184,167) (180,045) (4,122) (184,167)

Loss before income tax expense  (175,895) (4,122) (180,017) (175,895) (4,122) (180,017)

Income tax expense B - - - - - - 

Net loss for the period  (175,895) (4,122) (180,017) (175,895) (4,122) (180,017)

Net loss attributable to members

of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited  (175,895) (4,122) (180,017) (175,895) (4,122) (180,017) 
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Effect of A-IFRS on the balance sheet as at 30 June 2005

 Consolidated Company 
 Note AGAAP Effect of A-IFRS AGAAP Effect of A-IFRS
   transition to     transition to
   A-IFRS   A-IFRS 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents  810,190 - 810,190 810,190 - 810,190 

Trade and other receivables  42,630 - 42,630 42,630 - 42,630 

Other  27,896 - 27,896 27,896 - 27,896 

Total Current Assets  880,716 - 880,716 880,716 - 880,716 

Non-Current Assets 

Plant and equipment  1,463 - 1,463 1,463 - 1,463 

Deferred exploration and evaluation costs  309,834 - 309,834 309,834 - 309,834 

Total Non-Current Assets  311,297 - 311,297 311,297 - 311,297 

Total Assets  1,192,013 - 1,192,013 1,192,013 - 1,192,013 

Current Liabilities 

Trade and other payables  260,333 - 260,333 260,333 - 260,333 

Total Current Liabilities  260,333 - 260,333 260,333 - 260,333 

Total Liabilities  260,333 - 260,333 260,333 - 260,333 

Net Assets  931,680 - 931,680 931,680 - 931,680 

Equity 

Issued capital  1,107,575 - 1,107,575 1,107,575 - 1,107,575 

Options reserves (A) - 4,122 4,122 - 4,122 4,122 

Accumulated losses  (175,895) (4,122) (180,017) (175,895) (4,122) (180,017) 

Total Equity  931,680 - 931,680 931,680 - 931,680 

Notes to the reconciliation of income and equity

Note (A) – Employee benefits expense

Share-based payments

For the financial year ended 30 June 2005, share-based payments of $4,122 (Company: $4,122) (included in ‘employee 

benefit expenses’) which were not recognised under the superseded policies were recognised under A-IFRS, with a 

corresponding increase in the employee equity-settled benefits reserve.  These adjustments had no material tax or deferred 

tax consequences. 

Note (B) – Income tax

Under superseded policies, the consolidated entity adopted tax-effect accounting principles whereby income tax expense 

was calculated on pre-tax accounting profits after adjustment for permanent differences. The tax-effect of timing differences, 

which occur when items were included or allowed for income tax purposes in a period different to that for accounting were 

recognised at current taxation rates as deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, as applicable. Under A-IFRS, deferred 

tax is determined using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences 

between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their corresponding tax bases. Under 

A-IFRS, deferred tax balances of wholly-owned subsidiaries in a tax-consolidated group are not recognised by the head 

entity. These balances were recognised under the superseded policies. 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited, we state that:

1. In the opinion of the Directors:

 a. the financial statements and notes of the company and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the 

  Corporations Act 2001, including:

  i. giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at  

   30 June 2006 and of their performance for the period ended on that date; and

  ii. complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 b. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they  

  become due and payable.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance 

  with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial period ended 30 June 2006.

This Declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors and dated this 29th of September 2006  

in Melbourne

 I D Buckingham J W Cornelius

 Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer Non-Executive Chairman

 P I Rudd A R Ristrom

 Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director

 M W Trumbull

 Non-Executive Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF

PANAEGIS GOLD MINES LIMITED

ABN 42 111 587 163

Scope

The financial report and directors’ responsibility

The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity, 

a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for both Panaegis 

Gold Mines Limited (the Company) and the consolidated entity, for the financial year ended 30 June 2006. The consolidated 

entity comprises the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial 

report in accordance with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Act 2001. This includes 

responsibility for the maintenance of adequate financial records and internal controls that are designed to prevent 

and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report. 

Audit approach

We have conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the 

company. Our audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide reasonable assurance 

whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of 

professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal controls, and the availability of persuasive rather 

than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the financial report is presented fairly in 

accordance with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Act 2001 so as to present a view which is 

consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and performance as 

represented by the results of their operations, their changes in equity and their cash flows.

Our procedures included examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the 

financial report, and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the 

nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

DTT Victoria DTT Victoria
ABN 96 080 779 423
180 Lonsdale Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78B
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX 111
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9208 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9208 7001
www.deloitte.com.au
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Audit Opinion

In our opinion, the financial report of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and  

 of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(b) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

DTT Victoria

Chartered Accountants

M J Schofield

Partner

Melbourne

Date: 29 September 2006

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
DTT Victoria has changed its name from BDO and is a continuation of that Victorian partnership. The partners of DTT Victoria have also joined the Australian 
partnership of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
All changes with effect from 14 August 2006.
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 28 September 2006.

1.  FULLY PAID ORDINARY SHARES

(a) Distribution of Shareholders Numbers

 Category (size of holding) Fully Paid Ordinary Restricted Ordinary

 1 - 1,000 3 -

 1,001 - 5,000 13 -

 5,001 - 10,000 115 -

 10,001 - 100,000 287 -

 100,001 -        91 -

         509

(b) The number of shareholders held in less than marketable parcels is 11.

(c) No shareholders have lodged a notice of substantial shareholding in the Company as at 28 September 2006:

(d) The twenty largest holders of quoted fully paid ordinary shares are:

Shareholder Number Ordinary %

D&D Nominees Pty Ltd 6,084,089 11.80 

Mr Rolf Allan 2,064,999 4.00 

Invia Custodian Pty Ltd <WAM Capital Limited A/c> 1,144,800 2.22 

Cancer Ascendant Capital P/L <Cancer Ascendant Capital A/c> 1,071,000 2.08 

Mr Ralph Douglas Russell + Ms Ann Maree Hynes 1,062,500 2.06 

Arinya Investments Pty Ltd 1,000,000 1.94 

Mr Peter Charles Corke 1,000,000 1.94 

PPT Nominees Pty Ltd 975,000 1.89 

Mr Nicholas Charles Richards 823,000 1.60 

Mr Ralph Douglas Russell - Ms Ann Maree Hynes 

<The Russell Hynes S/F A/c> 812,500 1.58 

B Mitchell Nominees Pty Ltd <The B Mitchell Family A/c> 750,000 1.45 

Mr Bernard Joseph Thomas + Mrs Doris Irene Thomas

<Thomas S/F A/c> 737,646 1.43 

Sanlirrra Pty Ltd <The Leo DeMaria Family A/c> 700,000 1.36 

Smoke & Mirrors Capital Pty Ltd <Smoke & Mirrors Capital A/c> 700,000 1.36 

Keo Projects Pty Ltd <Superannuation Fund A/c> 625,000 1.21

Mr Glen Anthony Kiernan + Mrs Christine Anne Kiernan 

<Kiernan Super Fund A/c> 625,000 1.21 

Ms Leonie Anne Trumbull 625,000 1.21 

Dixtru Pty Limited 500,000 0.97 

Maminda Pty Ltd 500,000 0.97 

Parmelia Pty Ltd 500,000 0.97 

Total 22,300,534 43.25 
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2.  UNQUOTED SECURITIES

Options over Unissued Shares

No. of Options Grant Date Vesting Date Expiry Date Weighted average 

    exercise price 

1,000,000 20/05/2005 20/05/2005 31/12/2007 $0.35 

6,137,000 23/06/2006 23/06/2006 30/06/2008 $0.20 

1,500,000 20/05/2005 20/05/2005 30/06/2009 $0.50 

8,637,000  

3.  RESTRICTED SECURITIES

18,485,000 ordinary fully paid restricted unquoted shares. Restriction to 23 June 2008.

4.  VOTING RIGHTS

The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below:

(a) Ordinary Shares

 On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll 

each share shall have one vote.

(b) Options

There are no voting rights attached to the options.

5.  STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Quotation has been granted for all the ordinary shares of the Company on all Member Exchanges of the Australian Stock 

Exchange Limited.
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The Board of Directors of Panaegis Gold Mines Limited 

(“Panaegis Gold” or “the Company”) is responsible for the 

corporate governance of the Company. The Board guides 

and monitors the business and affairs of the Company on 

behalf of the shareholders by whom it is elected and to whom 

it is accountable.

In accordance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s 

best practice recommendations, the Corporate Governance 

Statement must contain specific information and also report 

on the Company’s adoption of the Council’s best practice 

recommendations on an exception basis, whereby disclosure 

is required of any recommendations that have not been 

adopted by the Company and why. Panaegis Gold’s corporate 

governance principles and policies are therefore structured 

with reference to the Corporate Governance Council’s best 

practice recommendations, which are as follows:-

1:  Lay solid foundations for management and oversight.

2:  Structure the board to add value.

3:  Promote ethical and responsible decision making.

4:  Safeguard integrity in financial reporting.

5:  Make timely and balanced disclosure.

6:  Respect the rights of shareholders.

7:  Recognise and manage risk.

8:  Encourage enhanced performance.

9:  Remunerate fairly and responsibly.

10. Recognise the legitimate interests of stakeholders. 

1.  Lay Solid Foundations for Management 
    and Oversight

The Board is committed to maximising company and 

management performance, thereby generating appropriate 

levels of shareholder value and financial return.

The Board, therefore, ensures that the Company is properly 

managed to protect and enhance shareholder interests and 

that the Company, its directors, officers and employees operate 

in an appropriate environment of corporate governance.

The Board is responsible for, inter alia, development of 

strategy, oversight of business and company management, 

risk management and compliance systems, and 

monitoring performance. The Board has established 

certain policies and protocols in relation to the Company’s 

operations, some of which are summarised below. 

2.  Structure the Board to Add Value

Corporate Governance Council Recommendation 2.1 

requires a majority of the Board to be independent directors. 

Recommendation 2.2 requires the Chairperson to be 

independent. Recommendation 2.3 requires the role of 

Chairperson and CEO should not be exercised by the same 

person.

The Chairman, Mr J W Cornelius, is a non-executive director. 

In general, it is the Board’s policy that there should be a 

majority of independent non-executive directors. The Board 

is currently made up of five (5) directors, four (4) are non-

executive, three (3) of whom are independent non-executive 

directors. The role of the Chairperson and CEO are not 

exercised by the same person.

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of 

each director who is in office at the date of the annual report 

are detailed in the Director’s Report.

The names of the directors of the Company are:

John W Cornelius (Non-executive Chairman)

Ian D Buckingham (Managing Director/CEO)

Andrew R Ristrom (Non-executive director)

Peter I Rudd (Non-executive director)

Michael W Trumbull (Non-executive director - Mining)

The Directors are of the view that the Board has an appropriate 

level of industry experience and business skills. All Directors 

acknowledge the need to act in good faith in the interests of 

stakeholders.

3.  Promote Ethical and Responsible  
     Decision-making

The Board has a series of Operating Procedures and Policy 

Guidelines that provide a framework in which the Company 

and its representatives conduct their business and activities 

in a fiscally efficient and socially responsible manner whilst 

seeking to maximise shareholder returns.

The Panaegis Gold Operating Procedures and Policy 

Guidelines outline how the Company expects Directors, 

management and employees are to behave and conduct 

business in a range of circumstances. In particular, the 

Code requires awareness of, and compliance with laws and 

regulations relevant to Panaegis Gold’s operations including 

environmental laws and community concerns. Directors, 

management and staff are expected to act ethically and 

responsibly. All Board members are qualified professionals 

within their respective industries and accordingly conduct 

themselves in a professional and ethical manner in both 

their normal commercial activities and the discharge of their 

responsibilities as Directors.

Whenever necessary, individual members of the Board may 
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seek independent professional advice at the expense of the 

Company in relation to fulfilling their duties as Directors.

The Company has a policy concerning trading in the 

Company’s securities by Directors, management and staff 

that is set out and disclosed in the Company’s Procedures 

and Policies Guidelines and comprises the following:

Any Director or employee wishing to buy or sell securities 

in the Company must advise the Chairman (in the case 

of Directors) or the Managing Director (in the case of an 

employee) of their intention beforehand. This applies to any 

dealings in the Company’s securities by family members and 

other associates of Directors and employees, as well as to 

personal dealings by the Directors and employees.

Directors and employees must not buy or sell the Company’s 

securities until approval has been given by the Chairman or 

Managing Director as the case requires.

The ASX Listing Rules require a director to notify the ASX 

within five (5) business days after any dealing in the Company’s 

securities that results in a change in the relevant interests of 

the director in the Company’s securities.

Investment or divestment in other entities by management 

or staff is not permitted if it is known that the Company has 

commenced a program to buy or sell investments in that 

entity.

4.  Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting

Recommendation 4.1 requires the Chief Executive Officer 

(CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) to sign a certificate 

stating that the financial reports give a true and fair view 

and are in accordance with accounting standards. As the 

Company does not employ a CFO, each of the Company’s 

Directors will declare that the financial reports give a true 

and fair view in all material respects of the Company’s 

financial position and operational results and that they are in 

accordance with relevant accounting standards.

In accordance with Recommendation 4.2 the Board has 

established an Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness 

of the Company’s controls in the areas of operational and 

balance sheet risk and financial reporting.

The Audit’s Committee’s charter provides that the Committee 

will comprise at least two independent non-executive directors. 

The current members of the Committee are:

Peter I Rudd (Non-executive director and Chairman  

 of the Audit Committee)

John W Cornelius (Non-executive director)

Andrew R Ristrom (Non-executive director) 

Members of the management and the Company’s external 

auditors attend meetings of the Audit Committee by invitation. 

The Audit Committee may also have access to financial and 

legal advisers in accordance with the Board’s general policy.

The Audit and Compliance Committee operates under a 

charter approved by the Board.

It is the Board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective 

internal control framework exists to examine the effectiveness 

and efficiency of significant business processes such as 

the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper 

accounting records and the integrity of financial information, 

the implementation of quality assurance practices and 

procedures and ensuring compliance with environmental 

regulations. The Board has delegated the responsibility for 

the establishment and maintenance of a framework of internal 

control mechanisms for the management of the Company to 

the Audit and Compliance Committee.

The Audit and Compliance Committee meets at least every 

quarter and is responsible for:

• the review of accounting policies;

• the detailed review of the Company’s annual, half yearly 

and quarterly financial reports;

• the effectiveness of accounting and internal control 

systems;

• addressing the findings of the external auditors;

• the assessment of the scope, quality and cost of the 

external audit;

• identifying areas of operation, regulatory and legal risk and 

recommending procedures to the Board to ensure those 

risks are effectively managed; and

• ensuring that conflicts of interest do not arise from 

services provided by the Company’s external advisors.

5.  Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure

The Board and Senior Management are aware of the 

Continuous Disclosure requirements of the ASX and have 

procedures in place to disclose any information concerning 

the Company that a reasonable person would expect to have 

a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities. 

Panaegis Gold recognises that it has a legal and moral 

obligation to immediately disclose to the market any information 

that a reasonable person would expect to have a material 

effect on the price or value of Panaegis Gold’s securities.

Directors and senior management of Panaegis Gold 
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acknowledge that they each have an obligation to immediately 

identify and immediately disclose information that may be 

regarded as material to the price or value of Panaegis Gold’s 

securities.

The Managing Director and Chairman are authorised to make 

statements and representations on Panaegis Gold’s behalf. 

The Company Secretary is responsible for overseeing and 

coordinating the disclosure of information to the ASX, analysts, 

stockbrokers, shareholders, the media and the public. The 

Secretary must inform the Directors, senior management 

and employees of Panaegis Gold’s continuous disclosure 

obligations on a quarterly basis.

The Directors and senior management personnel of Panaegis 

Gold ensure that the Secretary is aware of all information 

to be presented at briefings with analysts, stockbrokers, 

shareholders, the media and the public. Prior to being 

presented, information that has not already been the subject 

of disclosure to the market and is not generally available to 

the market is the subject of disclosure to the ASX. Only when 

confirmation of receipt of the disclosure and release to the 

market by the ASX is received and after the information is 

posted on the Company’s website may the information be 

presented.

If information that would otherwise be disclosed comprises 

of matters of supposition or is insufficiently definite to warrant 

disclosure, or if the effect of a disclosure on the value or price 

of Panaegis Gold’s securities is unknown, Panaegis Gold may 

request that the ASX grant a trading halt or suspend Panaegis 

Gold’s securities from quotation. Management of Panaegis 

Gold may consult Panaegis Gold’s external professional 

advisers and the ASX in relation to whether a trading halt or 

suspension is required.

6.  Respect the Rights of Shareholders

The Board aims to ensure in accordance with the 

Recommendation 6.1 that all shareholders are informed 

of relevant major developments affecting the affairs of the 

Company. Information is communicated to the shareholders 

through the annual and half year reports, disclosures made 

to the ASX, notices of meetings and occasional letters to 

shareholders where appropriate.

The external auditor will attend the AGM and be available 

to answer shareholder questions about the audit and the 

preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

7.  Recognise and Manage Risk

The Board has procedures in place to recognise and manage 

risk in accordance with Recommendation 7.1. Monthly 

reporting of financial performance is in place as are policies to 

manage credit, foreign exchange and other business risks.

The Company is committed to the proper identification and 

management of risk. Panaegis Gold regularly undertakes 

reviews of its risk management procedures which include 

implementation of a system of internal sign-offs to ensure not 

only that Panaegis Gold complies with its legal obligations, but 

that the Board and ultimately Shareholders can take comfort 

that an appropriate system of checks and balances in place 

regarding those areas of the business which present financial 

or operating risks.

The Company has also adopted a code of conduct which sets 

out the Company’s commitment to maintaining the highest 

level of integrity and ethical standards in all business practices. 

The code of conduct sets out for all Directors, management 

and employees the standards of expected.

8.  Encourage Enhanced Performance

The performance of the Board and key executive is reviewed 

regularly.

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing the 

remuneration of the Directors, the Managing Director and the 

executive officers of the Company and reviewing the operation 

of the Company’s Employee Share and Option Plans. This 

process requires consideration of the levels and form of 

remuneration appropriate to securing, motivating and retaining 

executive with the skills to manage the Company’s operations. 

In making decisions regarding the appointment of Directors, 

the Board as a whole periodically assesses the appropriate 

mix of skills and experience is represented on the Board.

The Board may obtain information form, and consult 

with management and external advisers, as it considers 

appropriate.

The remuneration policies for the executive and non-

executive directors were set in meetings of Directors and 

Shareholders respectively on 20 May 2005. The Directors 

review executive directors’ packages annually by reference to 

company performance, executive performance, comparable 

information from industry sectors and other listed companies 

and independent advice. Remuneration policies for non-

executive directors are disclosed in the Directors’ Report.

The Company has not established a Remuneration or 

Governance Committee as subcommittees of the Board. 

Remuneration and Governance issues are discussed and 

resolved at Board meetings.
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9.  Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly

It is the Company’s objective to provide maximum shareholder 

benefit from the retention of high quality Board members and 

Executives. Directors and Executives are remunerated with 

reference to market rates for comparable positions. Details 

of the remuneration of specified directors and executives are 

contained in the Directors report.

10.  Recognise the Legitimate Interests of  
       Stakeholders

The Board recognises the legitimate interests of shareholders, 

employees and other stakeholders. The Board has adopted 

corporate governance policies and practices designed 

to promote responsible management and conduct of the 

Company.

Environmental Policy

Panaegis Gold is committed to protecting the environment 

and safeguarding public and employee health in all aspects 

of its operations. Environmental protection and safe conduct 

are both corporate and personal responsibilities of Panaegis 

Gold, its employees, its alliance partners and suppliers of 

goods and services.

Panaegis Gold’s business ethos is to operate in a manner 

which addresses three fundamental principles to achieve 

balanced outcomes. 

• Social Acceptability;

• Economic Viability; and

• Environmental Responsibility.

Panaegis Gold will meet these principles in the following 

way:-

Social Acceptability:

• Compliance;

• Informing and consulting the community;

• Ensuring that its operations are commercially viable.

Environmental Responsibility:

• Minimising invasive impacts;

• Ensuring, if possible, that its impacts are transient;

• Operations controlled by Environmental Management 

Plan;

• Collection of only essential data for exploration;

• Intelligent and focused surveys based on optimising the 

use of existing data and information.

Economic Viability:

• Operate the Company in a manner which optimises 

long term viability and growth through the application of 

sound and efficient business practices;

• Aim to provide positive rates of return to investors;

• Continue to seek out and acquire access to areas with 

high gold prospectivity;

• Operations based on sound research and up-to-date 

technology.

Panaegis Gold commits itself to meeting these objectives, 

to monitoring the meeting of the objectives, to amending 

its approach and, if it proves to be inadequate, to continual 

assessment and auditing to ensure that its activities are 

complying with its stated intentions and plans. 

In addition, it commits itself to the public dissemination of 

this information.

Specifically, Panaegis Gold will :-

• Comply with all applicable laws, regulations and 

standards;

• Minimise environmental impact;

• Ensure employees, partner, supplier and public awareness 

of Panaegis Gold’s responsibilities for the environment;

• Ensure adequate management systems and procedures 

are in place to manage and mitigate the risks to the 

environment from Panaegis Gold’s operations.

Cultural Heritage Policy

Panaegis Gold recognises the need to understand the 

cultural and spiritual significance to the community of the 

area in which it is licensed to operate.

Panaegis Gold will work closely with local communities 

to identify significant sites and any impact the Company’s 

activities may have on them.

Panaegis Gold is committed to reaching mutually agreeable 

outcomes on the effects of its activities on cultural and 

spiritual values.

Panaegis Gold will specifically undertake to:

• Respect and protect cultural heritage sites of regional 

significance and sites of local spiritual significance.

• Embrace the intent and comply with the provisions of the 

Native Title Act and other relevant Acts.

• Communicate openly with local communities so that 

all relevant issues may be aired and understood by the 

participants.

• Involve local communities in the conduct of Panaegis 

Gold’s operations where these operations impact on 

cultural and spiritual heritage.

Panaegis Gold commits to the ongoing monitoring of the 

implementation of this policy and to amending its approach 

if the policy proves to be inadequate.




